The Fourth Conference on Information Theory and Complex Systems TINKOS 2016

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors: Velimir Ilić and Miomir Stanković



Belgrade, Serbia, October 27-28, 2016 Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts

The Fourth Conference on Information Theory and Complex Systems TINKOS 2016

Belgrade, Serbia, October 27-28, 2016

BOOK OF ABSTRACTS

Editors: Velimir Ilić and Miomir Stanković





The conference is organized by the Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts under auspices of the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology Development of the Republic of Serbia

THEMATIC FIELDS

- Information theory
- Information transmission
- Complex networks
- Decision making in complex systems
- Stochastic processes
- Intelligent systems
- Bioinformatics
- Mathematical physics

Conference Program Committee

- Prof. dr Miroslav Ćirić, FSM, Niš, Serbia
- Prof. dr Branko Dragović, IF, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Miroljub Dugić, FSM, Kragujevac, Serbia
- Prof. dr Elsa Dupraz, TB, Brest, France
- Prof. dr Ivan Djordjević, UA, Tucson, USA
- Dr Velimir Ilić, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Predrag Ivaniš, ETF, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Venceslav Kafedziski, FEEIT, Skopje, Macedonia
- Prof. dr Miodrag Mihaljević, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Zoran Ognjanović, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Milan Rajković, INSV, Belgrade, Serbia
- Prof. dr Miomir Stanković, FOS, Niš, Serbia
- Prof. dr Bosiljka Tadić, JSI, Ljubljana, Slovenia
- Prof. dr Branimir Todorović, FSM, Niš, Serbia
- Prof. dr Bane Vasić, UA, Tucson, USA
- Dr Lazar Velimirović, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia

Conference Organization Committee

- Dr Velimir Ilić, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Dr Lazar Velimirović, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Ivan Živković, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia
- Miloš Đurić, MI SASA, Belgrade, Serbia

CONFERENCE PROGRAM

OCTOBER 27, 2016

OPENING: 10:00-10:10: Velimir Ilić

INFORMATION TRANSMISSION

10:10-10:40: Elza Dupraz - Distributed K-means over Compressed Binary Data (invited)

10:40-11:10: Predrag Ivanis, Bane Vasic - **Reliable Storage of Information Using the Effect of Error-Correcting Errors** (invited)

11:10-11:40: Miodrag Mihaljevic - **Two Approaches for Security Enhancement of Lightweight Encryption and Elements of the Security Evaluation** (invited)

11:40-12:00: Venceslav Kafedziski - Compressed Sensing Channel Estimation

PAUSE: 12:00-13:00

DECISION MAKING IN COMPLEX SYSTEMS

13:00-13:20: Aleksandar Janjić, Lazar Velimirović, Miomir Stanković - **Multi-attribute optimization of** electric vehicle fleet charging scheduling

13:20-13:40: Janaćković Goran, Malenović-Nikolić Jelena, Vasović Dejan - **Multi-criteria Selection of Maintenance Strategy for criteria Construction Winches**

13:40-14:00: Ana Luković, Srđan Glišović - **Development of an Eco-Industrial Network - Based Model for** Managing Industrial Waste Flow

14:40-14:20: Nataša Glišović, Miodrag Rašković - The System for the Decision Support for Classifying the Patients using the measures for missing data

14:20-14:40: Ivana Marković, Jelena Z. Stanković, Miloš Stojanović - An AHP approach for modeling financial time series

14:40-15:00: Popovic Predrag, Ristic Miroslav, Nastic Aleksandar - Analysis of prediction errors generated by BINAR(1) models

OCTOBER 28, 2016

COMPLEX SYSTEMS AND INFORMATION THEORY

10:00-10:30: Branko Dragovich, Natasa Z. Misic - Ultrametrics in Bioinformation (invited)

10:30-11:00: Miroslav Ciric, Jelena Ignjatovic - Fuzzy relations and their use in the study of complex fuzzy systems (invited)

11:00-11:30: Miroljub Dugic, Jasmina Jeknic-Dugic - **Quantum Information - Fundamentals and Prospects** (invited)

11:30-11:50: Momir Arsenijevic - Limitations of Nakajima-Zwanzig method

11:50-12:10: Velimir Ilić, Miomir Stanković - Generalized entropies: review and open questions

PAUSE: 12:10-13:20

COMPLEX NETWORKS

13:20:13:40: Jelena Smiljanic, Marija Mitrovic Dankulov - Associative nature of conference participation dynamics - an empirical analysis and modeling

13:40:14:00: Marija Mitrovic Dankulov, Bosiljka Tadic - **The structure of communities in networks co**evolving with online social interactions

COMPLEXITY THEORY

14:00:14:20 Bojan M. Tomić, Milica M. Tomić - The Width of Complexity Potential as an Integral Factor of Science

14:20-14:40 - Miloš Milovanović, Gordana Medić-Simić - Complexity Based Aesthetics and Gnoseology

14:40-15:00 - Milica Bogicevic, Milan Merkle - **ABCDepth - Computation of High-dimensional Tukey** Median

PAUSE: 15:00-16:00

INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

16:00-16:20 Marko Stevanović, Branimir Todorović - Improving Text Classification Accuracy Using a Novel Corpora Cleansing Technique

16:20-16:40 Branimir Todorovic, Jelena Milovanovic - Semantic similarity detection in continuous vector space of words and phrases

16:40-17:00: Dejan Mancev and Branimir Todorovic - **Structured classification with the averaged sum loss**

17:00-17:20: Aleksandar Trokicic, Branimir Todorovic - Nystrom views via the randomized SVD for semi supervised learning

17:20-17:40: Branimir Todorović - Kalman filter training of Echo State Networks

17:40-18:00: Predrag S. Stanimirovic, Ivan S. Zivkovic, Dimitrios Gerontitis - Higher-order ZNN models for computing the matrix inverse

CONTENTS

| Elsa Dupraz | |
|--|----|
| Distributed K-means over Compressed Binary Data | 1 |
| Predrag Ivaniš, Bane Vasić | |
| Reliable Storage of Information Using the Effect of Error-Correcting Errors | 2 |
| Venceslav Kafedziski | |
| Compressed Sensing Channel Estimation | 3 |
| Aleksandar Janjić, Lazar Velimirović, Miomir Stanković | |
| Multi-attribute Optimization of Electric Vehicle Fleet Charging Scheduling | 4 |
| Janaćković Goran, Malenović-Nikolić Jelena, Vasović Dejan | |
| Multi-criteria Selection of Maintenance Strategy for Construction Winches | 5 |
| Ana Luković, Srđan Glišović | |
| Development of an Eco-Industrial Network - Based Model for Managing Industrial Waste Flow | 6 |
| Nataša Glišović, Miodrag Rašković | |
| The System for the Decision Support for Classifying the Patients using the measures for missing data | 7 |
| Ivana Marković, Jelena Z. Stanković, Miloš Stojanović | |
| An AHP approach for modeling financial time series | 9 |
| Popović Predrag, Ristić Miroslav, Nastić Aleksandar | |
| Analysis of prediction errors generated by BINAR(1) models | 11 |
| Branko Dragovich, Nataša Ž. Mišić | |
| Ultrametrics in Bioinformation | 12 |
| Miroslav Ćirić, Jelena Ignatović | |
| Fuzzy relations and their use in the study of complex fuzzy systems | 13 |
| Miroljub Dugić, Jasmina Jeknić-Dugić | |
| Quantum Information: Fundamentals and Prospects | 16 |
| Momir Arsenijević | |
| Limitations of Nakajima-Zwanzig method | 17 |
| Velimir M. Ilić, Miomir S. Stanković | |
| Generalized entropies: review and open questions | 18 |
| Jelena Smiljanić, Marija Mitrović Dankulov | |
| Associative nature of conference participation dynamics: an empirical analysis and modeling | 19 |
| Marija Mitrović Dankulov, Bosiljka Tadić | |
| The structure of communities in networks co-evolving with online social interactions | 20 |

| Bojan M. Tomić, Milica M. Tomić | |
|--|----|
| The Width of Complexity Potential as an Integral Factor of Science | 21 |
| Miloš Milovanović, Gordana Medić-Simić | |
| Complexity Based Aesthetics and Gnoseology | 23 |
| Milica Bogićević, Milan Merkle | |
| ABCDepth: Computation of High-dimensional Tukey Median | 24 |
| Marko Stevanović, Branimir Todorović | |
| Improving Text Classification Accuracy Using a Novel Corpora Cleansing Technique | 26 |
| Branimir Todorovic, Jelena Milovanovic | |
| Semantic similarity detection in continuous vector space of words and phrases | 27 |
| Dejan Mančev, Branimir Todorović | |
| Structured classification with the averaged sum loss | 28 |
| Aleksandar Trokicić, Branimir Todorović | |
| Nystrom views via the randomized SVD for semi supervised learning | 29 |
| Branimir Todorović | |
| Kalman filter training of Echo State Networks | 30 |
| Predrag S. Stanimirović, Ivan S. Živković, Dimitrios Gerontitis | |
| Higher-order ZNN models for computing the matrix inverse | 31 |

Distributed K-means over Compressed Binary Data

Elsa Dupraz¹

¹Telecom Bretagne; UMR CNRS 6285 Lab-STICC Brest, France

Keywords

Distributed source coding, K-means algorithm, Learning over compressed data, Sensor networks, LDPC codes

Summary

Networks of sensors have long been employed in various domains such as environmental monitoring, electrical energy management, and medicine [1]. In particular, inexpensive binary-valued sensors are successfully used in a wide range of applications, such as activity recognition on home environments [2]. In this paper, we consider a network of *J* binary-valued sensors that transmit their data to a fusion center. We assume that the fusion center has to perform K-means clustering on the binary data transmitted by the sensors.

In this context, the J sensors should send their measurements to the fusion center in a compressed form in order to greatly reduce the amount of data transmitted within the network. Low Density Parity Check (LDPC) codes have been shown to be very efficient for distributed compression in a network of sensors [3]. However, the standard distributed compression framework considers that the fusion center has to reconstruct all the measurements from all the sensors. Here, in order to avoid potentially complex decoding operations, we would like to perform K-means directly over the compressed data. For this problem, [4] considered realvalued measurement vectors compressed from Compressed Sensing (CS) techniques, and showed that applying the K-means algorithm in the compressed domain enables to recover the clusters of the original domain. However, K-means over compressed binary data was not considered in [4], nor in references therein.

In this work, we consider binary measurement vectors and we assume that the compression is realized from LDPC codes. We propose a formulation of the K-means algorithm that applies over binary data in the compressed domain. As for the original K-means, our clustering algorithm is divided into two steps, namely the cluster assignment step and the centroid estimation step.

We then carry a theoretical analysis of the performance of the proposed K-means algorithm in the compressed domain. We in particular derive analytical approximated error probabilities of each of the two steps of the K-means algorithm. In order to verify the accuracy of the analysis, we compare the obtained analytical expressions to the error probabilities measured from Monte Carlo simulations, see Figure 1. We observe that although the analytical expressions are only approximations, they predict accurately the error probabilities of the two steps of the algorithm. The theoretical analysis hence permits to verify that applying Kmeans in the compressed domain enables to recover the clusters of the original domain. It also serves to design the parameters of the LDPC codes that are used in the system.

At the end, we show from Monte Carlo simulations that the effective rate needed to perform K-means over compressed data is lower than the theoretical rate (the joint entropy of all the sensors measurements) that would be needed to reconstruct all the sensors measurements.



Figure 1: Approximated error probability of the centroid estimation step and error probability measured from Monte Carlo simulations, with respect to the binary symmetric source parameter p. The value r is the coding rate.

- J. Yick, B. Mukherjee, and D. Ghosal. Wireless sensor network survey. *Computer networks*, 52(12):2292–2330, 2008.
- [2] F.J. Ordóñez, P. de Toledo, and A. Sanchis. Activity recognition using hybrid generative/discriminative models on home environments using binary sensors. *Sensors*, 13(5):5460–5477, 2013.
- [3] Z. Xiong, A. Liveris, and S. Cheng. Distributed source coding for sensor networks. *IEEE Signal Processing. Magazine*, 21(5):80–94, 2004.
- [4] C. Boutsidis, A. Zouzias, M.W. Mahoney, and P. Drineas. Randomized dimensionality reduction for K-means clustering. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 61(2):1045–1062, 2015.

Reliable Storage of Information Using the Effect of Error-Correcting Errors

Predrag Ivaniš¹, Bane Vasić²

¹School of Electrical Engineering, University of Belgrade, Serbia ^{*} ²Department of ECE, University of Arizona, USA [†]

E-mail: ¹predrag.ivanis@etf.rs, ²vasic@ece.arizona.edu

Keywords

LDPC codes, iterative decoding, memory architecture, noisy decoders, unreliable logic gates.

Summary

Many natural and man-made systems involving computing, control and communications are made of parts or parts exhibiting stochastic unreliable behavior. Examples of such systems range from computers, quantum nano-scale devices and radiation tolerant spacecraft electronics to gene regulatory networks and neural circuitry. No system using less reliable components is known to operate better than a system using perfect components. Here we present such a system.

We give an architecture of a storage system consisting of a storage medium made of unreliable memory elements and an error correction circuit made of noisy logic gates that is capable of retaining the stored information longer and with lower probability of error than a storage system with a correction circuit made of perfect logic gates.

Our correction circuit is based on iterative decoding of low-density parity check codes, and uses the positive effect of errors in logic gates to correct the errors in memory elements. In contrary to fault-tolerant Taylor-Kuznetsov architecture [1-2], the randomness introduced in the decoder of the proposed storage system provides not only robustness to logic-gate errors, but also superiority to other perfect iterative decoders.

We provide an experimental demonstration and a theoretical explanation of this phenomenon, and we show that the randomness in message updates helps the decoder to escape from local minima.

It is known that adding noise in messages of the belief propagation decoder can improve its performance in the error floor regime [3]. The same effect can be observed in hard decision decoders with reduced complexity [4-6]. Recently, we have shown that the performance of Gallager-B decoder and gradient descent bit flipping decoder can be highly improved if the deliberate flips of the massages are combined with reinitialization and restarts [7, 8]. In this paper, we use the observed effects to design a low complexity memory architecture that provides reliable storage of information and reduced energy consumption.

The same effect can be used for various applications where the performance improvement of the iterative decoder is critical parameter (as an example, to improve security of the code based cryptosystems).

- [1] Taylor, M.G. Reliable information storage in memories designed from unreliable components. *Bell Systems Technical Journal*, 47, 10, (1968), 2299–2337.
- [2] Kuznetsov, A.V. Information storage in a memory assembled from unreliable components. *Problems of Information Transmission*, 9, 3, (1973), 254–264.
- [3] Leduc-Primeau, F., Hemati, S., Mannor, S. and Gross, W. J. Dithered belief propagation decoding. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 60, 8, (2012), 2042–2047.
- [4] Yazdi, S.M.S.T., Cho, H. and Dolecek, L. Gallager B decoder on noisy hardware. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 61, 5, (2013), 1660–1673.
- [5] Rasheed, O.A., Ivaniš, P. and Vasic, B. Fault-tolerant probabilistic gradient-descent bit flipping decoder. *IEEE Communications Letters*, 18, 9, (2014), 1487–1490.
- [6] Sundararajan, G., Winstead, C. and Boutillon, E. Noisy gradient descent bit-flip decoding for LDPC codes. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 62, 10 (2014), 3385–3400.
- [7] Vasic, B. Ivanis, P, Declercq, D., LeTrung, K. Approaching Maximum Likelihood Performance of LDPC Codes by Stochastic Resonance in Noisy Iterative Decoders. *Proc. 12th Information Theory and Applications Workshop* (2016), San Diego, USA.
- [8] Ivanis, P., Vasic, B. Error Errore Eicitur: A Stochastic Resonance Paradigm for Reliable Storage of Information on Unreliable Media. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 64, 9, (2016), 3596–3608.

^{*}The first author is supported by the Seventh Framework Programme of the European Union, under Grant Agreement number 309129 (i-RISC project) and Serbian Ministry of Education and Science under grant TR32028.

[†]The second author is supported by IUSSTF under the Indo-US Joint R&D Network Joint Centre on Data Storage Research/16-2014 Award. It is also funded in part by the NSF under grants CCF-0963726, CCF-1314147 and ECCS-1500170.

Compressed Sensing Channel Estimation

Venceslav Kafedziski

Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Information Technologies, University Ss. Cyril and Methodius, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia E-mail: kafedzi@feit.ukim.edu.mk

Keywords

Compressed sensing; channel estimation; sparsity; massive MIMO; 5G

Summary

Compressed sensing (CS) is a recent technique used to reduce the number of samples used to sample sparse signals below the Nyquist rate [1,2]. Different optimization methods are used in CS to recover the original signal. Channel estimation is one of the most important applications of CS in wireless communications. This is due to channel sparsity in delay, Doppler and spatial (angle) domain [3]. Exploiting the sparsity, the number of pilots used for channel estimation can be reduced, and the signal transmission rate can be increased. We apply CS to several channel estimation problems, including time dispersive systems, time dispersive Single Input Multiple Output (SIMO) systems and massive Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO) systems. Massive MIMO is one of the most promising technologies in 5G mobile cellular systems [4]. The cellular base station (BS) uses a very large number of antennas, which increases channel capacity, averages out the effects of small scale fading and enables simple downlink signal processing architectures. CS is used to reduce the extreme number of pilots required for channel estimation.

In both [5] and [6] we consider an OFDM system with pilot aided channel estimation over sparse time dispersive channels. In [5] we model the channel as a Bernoulli-Gaussian channel and we use Lasso CS for channel estimation. We evaluate the mean square error using the replica method results, known from literature, and then evaluate a capacity lower bound for the OFDM system. We maximize this bound with respect to the number and power of pilot subcarriers.

Lasso is usually implemented on a grid of equidistant values of the quantity to estimate. Recently, atomic norm has been used in CS for estimation of quantities that can assume continuous values. In [6] we use the atomic norm minimization combined with a super resolution method for gridless estimation of arbitrary path delays in sparse time dispersive channels. In [6] the delays are chosen from a uniform distribution and the gains are complex Gaussian. Following the delays estimation, the channel gains are estimated using the LS method.

In [7] we extend the approach from [6] to time dispersive SIMO channels, using a single transmit and multiple receive antennas in an OFDM system. A joint estimation of the delays at different antennas corresponding to the same scatterers is obtained using the combination of the atomic norm minimization for the Multiple Measurement Vector (MMV) model and the MUSIC method, followed by the estimation of gains using the LS or the MMSE method.

Finally, we describe CS based downlink channel estimation in Frequency Division Duplex (FDD) multiuser massive MIMO systems. In massive MIMO besides the sparsity in the angle, delay and Doppler domain, the antenna correlation at the transmitter side (the BS) can be exploited for channel estimation. Here we use the sparsity in the angle domain and the transmit antenna correlation. We assume that the channels of a group of users that are geographically close (i.e. have close angles) can be jointly estimated at BS, using feedback and the MMV approach with mixed norm minimization for recovery.

- [1] Donoho, D. Compressed Sensing, *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 52,4 (2006) 1289-1306.
- [2] Candes, E.J., Romberg, J. and Tao, T. Robust uncertainty principles: Exact signal reconstruction from highly incomplete frequency information, *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 52,2 (2006) 489-509.
- [3] Bajwa, W.U., Haupt, J., Sayeed, A.M. and Nowak, R. Compressed Channel Sensing: A New Approach to Estimating Sparse Multipath Channels, *Proceedings of IEEE*, 98,6 (2010) 1058-1076.
- [4] Larsson, E.G., Tufvesson, F., Edfors, O. and Marzetta T.L. Massive MIMO for Next Generation Wireless Systems, *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 52,2 (2014) 186-195.
- [5] Pejoski, S. and Kafedziski, V. Asymptotic Capacity Lower Bound for an OFDM System With Lasso Compressed Sensing Channel Estimation for Bernoulli-Gaussian Channel, *IEEE Communications Letters*, 19,3 (2015) 379-382.
- [6] Pejoski, S. and Kafedziski, V. Estimation of Sparse Time Dispersive Channels in Pilot Aided OFDM Using Atomic Norm, *IEEE Wireless Communications Letters*, 4,4 (2015) 397-400.
- [7] Pejoski, S. and Kafedziski, V. Joint Atomic Norm Based Estimation of Sparse Time Dispersive SIMO Channels with Common Support in Pilot Aided OFDM Systems, *Mobile Networks and Applications*, Springer, (2016) doi:10.1007/s11036-016-0748-y, 1-11.

Multi-attribute Optimization of Electric Vehicle Fleet Charging Scheduling

Aleksandar Janjić¹, Lazar Velimirović², Miomir Stanković³

¹University of Nis, Faculty of Electronic Engineering, Aleksandra Medvedeva 14, 18000 Nis, Serbia ²Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Kneza Mihaila 36, 11001 Belgrade, Serbia.

³ University of Nis, Faculty of Occupational Safety, Carnojevica 10a, 18000 Nis, Serbia,

E-mail: ¹Aleksandar.Janjic@elfak.ni.ac.rs, ²lazar.velimirovic@mi.sanu.ac.rs, ³miomir.stankovic@gmail.com

Keywords

multi-attribute optimization; frequency regulation; scheduling;

Summary

Electric vehicles become an important resource to achieve more reliable and sustainable power system [1,2]. However, for the optimal integration of electric cars in power network, several objectives have to be fulfilled simultaneously: the minimization of the driver discomfort, maximization of the revenues coming from possible services to the grid and the maximization of the vehicle fleet charging station efficiency. This problem is solved using the multi attribute utility theory that allows different decision maker's attitude toward risk [3,4,5]. The final output is the decision algorithm for a day-ahead schedule of electric cars usage offering only secondary frequency regulation, from the fleet owner perspective [6].

There are generally two approaches for the generation of solution sets for the multi objective optimization: scalarization and nonscalarization methods. Scalarization methods explicitly use a scalarization function to convert the problem into a single objective program. In our approach, we used multiplicative aggregation as one of the well-known scalarization technique.

The optimization problem is set as a MINLP problem. The optimization function is nonlinear, with linear constraints [7]:

$$\begin{split} \min_{t_{on}, t_{plug}} U(X) \\ t_{on,i} + t_{plug,i} &= T - 1, \forall i \\ T_{(\min,on),i} \leq t_{on,i} \leq T_{(\max,on)i}, \forall i \\ T_{(\min,plug),i} \leq t_{plug,i} \leq T_{(\max,plug)i}, \forall i \\ P_i \leq P_{i,\max}, \forall i \end{split}$$

References

[1] Kempton, W., Letendre, S. E. Electric vehicles as a new power source for electric utilities. *Transportation*

Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 2(3), (1997), 157-175.

- [2] Kempton, W., Tomić, J. Vehicle-to-grid power fundamentals: Calculating capacity and net revenue, *Journal of power sources*, 144(1), (2005), 268-279.
- [3] Moradijoz, M., Moghaddam, M. P., Haghifam, M. R., Alishahi, E. A multi-objective optimization problem for allocating parking lots in a distribution network. *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, 46, (2013), 115-122.
- [4] Ishizaka, A., Nemery, P. Multi-attribute utility theory, Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis: Methods and Software, 2013, 81-113.
- [5] Janjic, A., Velimirovic, L. Optimal Scheduling of Utility Electric Vehicle Fleet Offering Ancillary Services, ETRI Journal, 37(2), (2015), 273-282.
- [6] Han, S., Han, S., Sezaki, K. Development of an optimal vehicle-to-grid aggregator for frequency regulation, IEEE Transactions on smart grid, 1(1), (2010), 65-72
- [7] Sivanandam, S. N., Deepa, S. N. Genetic algorithm implementation using matlab. *In Introduction to Genetic Algorithms, Springer Berlin Heidelberg*, 2008, 211-262.

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia through Mathematical Institute SASA under Grant III 42006 and Grant III 44006.

Multi-criteria Selection of Maintenance Strategy for Construction Winches

Janaćković Goran¹, Malenović-Nikolić Jelena², Vasović Dejan³

^{1,2,3}University of Niš, Faculty of Occupational Safety in Niš, Čarnojevića 10a, 18000 Niš, Serbia^{*}

E-mail: ¹janackovic.goran@gmail.com, ²malenovicfznr@gmail.com, ³djnvasovic@gmail.com

Keywords

Maintenance; construction winch; fuzzy analytic hierarchy process (fuzzy AHP); goal programming (GP); group decision-making

Summary

Safety system is a complex, open system, which exists in conjunction with the environment. Its important elements are technics/technology, people and organization, described by a set of indicators and performance [1]. Optimizing the value of indicators increases system efficiency and organizational productivity. Technical system is significant element of this system. It is described by the following performance: costs, flexibility, functionality, and maintainability [1].

Maintenance is one of the most important organizational activities in manufacturing systems, allowing the technical system to remain in operation for a long time, significantly reducing overall costs. Maintenance allows proper equipment functioning within the permitted parameters' limits [2]. Selection of optimal way of maintaining is a complex process taking into consideration a large number of characteristics.

At construction sites, there is a number of machines for lifting and transfer of construction material. These are different types of cranes, winches and lifts. They raise the burden of weight from a few hundred to a few thousand kilos, so it is very important to properly work, and not to put their operators in situations which could lead to an injury or death. Therefore, the maintenance of these machines and equipment is very important. There are corrective, preventive and proactive maintenance. Maintenance based on risk, popular in recent years, is based on the last two maintenance strategies.

Various methods for maintenance based on multiple criteria analysis are applied: multi-attribute utility theory, multi-criteria analysis using the analytic hierarchy process (AHP), and combining AHP method with goal programming or lexicographical goal programming [3-5]. The proposed hybrid model for construction winches maintenance selection is based on the identification of technical system' subsystems, identification of elements for maintaining, the development of a hierarchical structure for the selection of optimal maintenance method, the key criteria selection, defining the objective function and maintenance constraints, and the selection of optimal maintenance strategy. Criteria for selection of optimal maintenance strategy are reliability and availability, offered safety level, and expected maintenance costs [2]. The high level of reliability, availability and protection requires additional organizational activities and investments. The strategy is selected on the basis of a compromise of these conflicting criteria. The selection is carried out in two phases: (1) the determination of crisp values of global and local priority vectors of criteria and indicators based on the group fuzzy AHP method; (2) selection of optimum maintenance strategy based on defined objectives and constraints using a goal programming. To avoid erroneous reasoning, the analysis of the consistency of each expert' grade and the conformity assessment of various experts are obtained.

- Janaćković, G., Savić, S., Stanković, M. Selection and ranking of occupational safety indicators based on fuzzy AHP: Case study in road construction companies, *S.A. Journal of Industrial Engineering 24*, 3 (2013), 175-189.
- [2] Papić, Lj., Milovanović, Z., *Maintainability and reliability of technical systems*, DQM Center, Prijevor, 2007.
- [3] Bevilacqua, M., Braglia, M., The analytic hierarchy process applied to maintenance strategy selection, *Reliability engineering & system safety 70*, 1 (2000), 71– 83.
- [4] Bertolini, M., Bevilacqua, M., A combined goal programming—AHP approach to maintenance selection problem, *Reliability engineering & system safety 91*, (2006), 839–848.
- [5] Arunraj, N.S., Maiti, J., Risk-based maintenance policy selection using AHP and goal programming, *Safety Science* 48, (2010), 238-247.

^{*}The paper is supported by the Ministry of Education and Science, Republic of Serbia (research projects III 44006, III 42006).

Development of an Eco-Industrial Network - Based Model for Managing Industrial Waste Flow

Ana Luković¹, Srđan Glišović²

¹Faculty of Occupational Safety, University of Niš, Čarnojevića 10a, Serbia^{*} ² Faculty of Occupational Safety, University of Niš, Čarnojevića 10a, Serbia[†]

E-mail: ¹ julovskiana@live.com, ² srdjan.glisovic@znrfak.ni.ac.rs

Keywords

Industrial waste; facility location; eco-industrial network; p-median model; AHP; decision making

Summary

One of the biggest problems of environmental protection in Serbia is inappropriate waste treatment, as well as non-utilization of industrial waste (limited capacities for waste recycling, non-utilization of industrial waste for reuse, and low utilization in energetics). The consequences of such behavior are negative environmental impact and exploitation of natural resources. According to the national document - Report on the State of the Environment in the Republic of Serbia for 2014 from Serbian Environmental Protection Agency, following results show: from the total quantity of generated industrial wastes, 76.81 % of non-hazardous waste are left on locations where the waste is generated without any treatment options. Also, the same non-treatment referes to the 80.43 % of hazardous waste [1].

The society deals with the problem of finding the way for waste reuse or by-product treatment which are dismissed by users or waste generators whit the aim of waste reduction and natural resourses conservation.

The main goal of the paper is creation of a model for solving the location problem of waste (secondary materials) treatment facilities, taking in consideration the territorial distribution of raw materials, the type and the quantities of raw materials and the distance between the industries, but simultaneously regional considering social, economic and environmental issues. The specific goal of the research is to design an appropriate model and software tool capable of analyzing all relevant industrial plants within an observed region according to the type of required secondary material and the amount of waste they generate, but in context of regional sustainability.

Methods of global optimization, i.e. heuristic algorithms will be applied to determine the initial location of by-product treatment facility. The limited capacity model of *p-median* and other similar models were used for initial network optimization [2]. For the final placement of the waste facility, after the initial priority optimization by p-median model, the analytic hierarchy process (AHP) is used as a multi-criteria decision support method of choice for the regional management of industrial waste. Previously, the economic, social and environmental protection criteria were defined as a necessary prerequisite for decisionmaking during integrated resource planning and preventive mitigation of the impacts that arise in an industrial area and its immediate surroundings.

The developed model for industrial by-product flow management, based on eco-industrial network operation principles, constitute a foundation for design of a decision support system which might contribute improvement of the current by-product management practices in the region. It would also assist the efforts to reduce consumption of primary materials and to save resources, while taking into consideration financial aspects and indicators of sustainable development.

- Ministarstvo poljoprivrede i zaštite životne sredine, Agencija za zaštitu životne sredine, Izveštaj o stanju životne sredine Republike Srbije za 2014. godinu (2015).
- [2] Daskin, M.S. and Maass, K.L. The p-Median Problem, in Location Science, Springer International Publishing (2015), 21-45.
- [3] Bing, X. Sustainable Reverse Logistics for Household Plastic Waste, PhD dissertation, Wageningen University, Wageningen, NL, (2014).
- [4] Fernandez, I. and Ruiz, M.C. Descriptive model and evaluation system to locate sustainable industrial areas, *Journal of Cleaner Production* 17 (2009), 87– 100.
- [5] Glover, F. and Kochenberger, G.A. Handbook of Metaheuristics, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston-Dordrecht-London, (2003).

The System for the Decision Support for Classifying the Patients using the measures for missing data

Nataša Glišović^{1,2}, Miodrag Rašković²

¹ State University of Novi Pazar, Department of Mathematical Sciences, Vuka Karadzica bb, 36300 Novi Pazar, Serbia^{*}

² Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts (SANU), Kneza Mihaila 36, 11000 Beograd, Serbia[†]

E-mail: ¹natasaglisovic@mail.com, ²goca@mi.sanu.ac.rs

Keywords

Systemic diseases, missing data, distance, decision support, systemic lupus erythematosus, Sy Sjogren, systemic sclerosis

Summary

The aim of this paper is to show the system for making a decision in the diagnostics of the patients with autoimmune diseases. In this research we proposed two distances. One for missing value and other for the calculation of the distance of the patient from the diseases. The support system in the diagnostics uses these proposed distances implemented in the program language c#. It is often required to establish how the data are connected, how certain data differ or do not go together with each other and what the measure of their comparison is. An important part in detecting the similarities and grouping the data into clusters has the choice of metrics and the accuracy of the cluster algorithm operation. For clustering, we use the machine learning. The machine learning can be observed as determining the dependence on the available data [2]. The Metric learning has become a popular issue in many learning tasks and can be applied in a wide variety of settings, since many learning problems involve a definite notion of distance or similarity [1]. A metric or distance function is a function which defines a distance between the elements of a set [6]. In our paper we used the database of the patients with one of the mentioned three systemic autoimmune diseases: systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), Sy Sjogren and systemic sclerosis (SScl).

Every patient was diagnosed on the basis of appropriate criteria. The selection of variables is established by the expert committee but is also under the strict influence of the statistical analyses. The classification criteria for SLE were established by the American College of Rheumatology from 1982. Later, in 1997 the criteria were revised [4, 5]. Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics (SLICC) set up the new classification criteria in 2012. The diagnostic criteria for Sy Sjogren and the systic sclerosis [3], are given in a similar way. On the basis of the proposed distance given in

$$D(\varphi,\psi) = \frac{\max_{A \in \varphi} \min_{B \in \psi} d(A,B) + \max_{B \in \psi} \min_{A \in \varphi} d(A,B)}{2}$$
(1)

(where φ and ψ be two sets of the stated formulas to which the formulas which represent the literal conjunction belong, Hamming's d(A,B)is distance), first, the base is filled in with the missing then. on the basis data. $D_{1}(\varphi,\psi) = \frac{D(p_{1}^{i},\psi) + D(p_{2}^{i},\psi) + \dots + D(p_{n}^{i},\psi)}{D(\varphi,p_{1}^{i}) + D(\varphi,p_{2}^{i}) + \dots + D(\varphi,p_{m}^{i})} + \frac{D(\varphi,p_{1}^{i}) + D(\varphi,p_{2}^{i})}{D(\varphi,p_{1}^{i}) + D(\varphi,p_{m}^{i})}$ (2) (Where D is from (1), φ and ψ represent the conjunctive formula of the disease (in general sense), while p_i^l , $1 \le i \le n$, $l \ l \in \psi$ (the patients of that disease), p_j^s , $1 \le j \le m$, $s \in \varphi$.), the distance from the new patient to the disease is found. The system was tested its success showed 97.78%, only with one patient there was a mistake in the diagnosis. The aim of the research was to make a better system for giving a diagnosis of the patient as much as possible.

The integrated information systems in medicine and the standardized database about the patients give the possibilities for the development of a new system generation for the support in clinical decision-making which were available to the users of such integrated systems. The proposed system showed better results than the existing methods.

- Agrawal R., Faloutsos C., Swami A. Efficient similarity search in sequence databases. Proc. 4th Int. Conf. On Foundations of Data Organizations and Algorithms, 1993. – Chicago. pp. 69-84.
- [2] Cherkassky V., Mulier F. M., Learning from Data: Concepts, Theory, and Methods, 2nd Ed, John Wiley-IEEE Press, 2007.
- [3] Frank van den Hoogen, Dinesh Khanna, Jaap Fransen,Sindhu R Johnson, Murray Baron, Alan

^{*}The first author is supported by the Serbian Ministry of Education and Science (project III44006)

[†]The second author is supported by the Serbian Ministry of Education and Science (project III44006)

Tyndall,et al. 2013 classification criteria for systemic sclerosis: an American college of rheumatology/European league against rheumatism collaborative initiative Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72:1747-1755.

- [4] Gladman DD, Urowitz MB. Prognosis, mortality and morbidity in systemic lupus erythematosus. In: Wallace DJ, Hahn BH. Dubois' lupus erythematosus. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007:1333-53.
- [5] Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. The innate and adaptive immune systems. In: Goldman L, Ausiello D, eds. *Cecil Medicine*. 23rd ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Saunders Elsevier;2007: chap 42.
- [6] Li M., Chen X., Ma B., Vitanyi P. The similarity metric. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, 2004, vol.50, No. 12, pp.3250-3264.

An AHP approach for modeling financial time series

Ivana Marković¹, Jelena Z. Stanković², Miloš Stojanović³

^{1, 2}Faculty of Economics, University of Niš, Trg kralja Aleksandra Ujedinitelja 11, Serbia ³ College of Applied Technical Sciences, Aleksandra Medvedeva 20, Niš, Serbia E-mail: ¹ivana.markovic@eknfak.ni.ac.rs, ²jelenas@eknfak.ni.ac.rs, ³milos.stojanovic@vtsnis.edu.rs

Keywords

Technical indicators; AHP; predictive modeling; financial time series; stock market

Summary

The dynamic filed of time series modeling has received a lot of interest by the research community over the last few years. Time series provide an overview of how a random process of discrete time intervals develops. The empirical data used to analyses financial markets contain a finite time increment, which usually represents a 24-hour interval. The amount of data for analysis is rapidly increasing, and the need for developing proper mathematical tools for the practical purposes of classification and understanding of financial market system is growing. If financial market trends could be predicted more accurately, this would provide the necessary conditions for achieving maximum return on investment. Currently, the two most widely debated approaches in understanding processes on the stock market are the paradigm of random walks with the related efficient market hypothesis and the existence of trends based on the assumptions of technical analysis [1]. According to [2] the more widely adopted of above mention methods of trend prediction, as applied to world stock markets, is technical analysis. Technical analysis is based on analyzing evolution of a financial instrument price, relying only on its price history. Past history of transaction practices and volumes is used to compute technical indicators. They in turn function as signals of future price changes.

It is well-known that by obtaining new information, the behavior of market participants constantly fluctuates, and that making decisions on activities are closely related to the experience and intuition of investors, influenced by dynamic market conditions and potential trading risk.

In this paper we propose a methodology which incorporates domain-specific knowledge by using a multi-criteria decision-making approach that is an analytical hierarchy process of the evaluation of relevance of technical indicators. In order to address this problem we propose the evaluation of technical trading strategies as potential measure of success of the technical indicator relied on. To clarify, a technical trading strategy is composed of a set of trading rules which are generated based on the values of the technical indicators and are used to generate trading signals.

AHP is used on stock market data in this paper due to its successful application in various empirical data analyses. Furthermore, AHP was introduced in several studies for feature ranking and weighting in combination with machine learning algorithms [3-5]. The method has been proven to be successful due to its ability to evaluate a group of factors based on their relevance, even in mutually opposed criteria, without any previous knowledge on the structure of their mutual relations.

In order to make an evaluation of the obtained set of technical indicators we select and describe three AHP evaluation criteria. The first and second criterion measures the economic relevance of the technical indicators. The cumulative gross return is used as a measure of stock market profitability. The second parameter is systematic risk as a measure of market volatility. The third criterion represents a comparison of the trading signals generated with a trading strategy and signals generated based on actual stock market index values. They are put into relation trough their achieved prediction accuracy. The weights obtained by AHP are then used for technical indicator ranking.

The model was tested on the Serbian stock exchange market using stock index Belex15. The test results indicate that the present AHP-based methodology could be used as a preprocessing method in order to assess the relevance of features from time series data.

- Lo, A., Mamaysky, H., Wang, J. (2000). Foundations of Technical Analysis: Computational Algorithms, Statistical Inference, and Empirical Implementation. The Journal of Finance, Vol. 55, No. 4, pp. 1705-1765.
- [2] V. Chsherbakov, " Efficiency of Use of Technical Analysis: Evidences from Russian Stock Market", Ekonomika a management, vol. 4, 2010
- [3] Liu, D., Tian, Z., Luo, B., & Xia, J. (2013). Feature Ranking in Intrusion Detection by Hybrid Algorithm with Support Vector Machine and Analytic Hierarchy Process, JDCTA, 7 (7), 1005-1013. doi:10.4156/jdcta.vol7.issue7.119
- [4] Marković, I, Stojanović, M., Stanković, J., Stanković M. Stock market trend prediction using AHP and weighted kernel LS-SVM, Soft Computing. (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s00500-016-2123-0

[5] Wang, D. & Zhang, H. (2013). Group AHP and Kmeans cluster for a new segmentation of brand customer. IJACT, 5, 213-221.

Analysis of prediction errors generated by BINAR(1) models

Popović Predrag¹, Ristić Miroslav², Nastić Aleksandar³

¹ Faculty of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Niš, Serbia ^{2,3} Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University of Niš, Serbia E-mail: ¹popovicpredrag@yahoo.com, ²miristic72@gmail.com, ³anastic78@gmail.com

Keywords

integer valued autoregressive models, time series of counts, binomial thinning, negative binomial thinning

Summary

Modeling integer valued time series is a point of interest for many researchers since this type of series can be found in many scientific fields. One of the first ideas devoted to modeling this type of time series can be found in [3] and [1]. It might happen that two series of counts are dependent, thus the definition of some bivariate models are necessary. This extension from the univariate to the multivariate case can be found in [2]. The goal is to define a model which well fits data and makes prediction errors as small as possible. There are different measures that researchers use to describe adequacy of some model for particular data set. Among mostly exploited methods are Akkaike information criteria and Root mean square error. These methods allows us to compare some models with each others, but not to analyze them and understand how the prediction errors are generated. The aim of our research is to define the approach that can help us better understand the one-step-ahead prediction error made by bivariate integer valued autoregressive models.

The bivariate models that we are investigating are autoregressive of order one. They are composed of two components: survival part and innovation part. The survival part is defined through the thinning operator, where we use the binomial or the negative binomial thinning operator. The distribution of the innovation part is determined under the stationarity condition. These type of models can be found in [6], [4] and [5]. Since the processes defined with these models are Markov processes of order one, we use conditional expectation for the one step ahead prediction, where the expectation is derived with respect to the previous state of the process. We introduce the approach that distinguishes the prediction error made by the survival and the innovation component separately. These two components are not observable, thus we need to derive their conditional expectations where we know the current and the previous states of the modeled process. In this manner, we can estimate the amount of information that we get from the survival and the innovation component separately. This approach let us better understand shortfalls of the observed models and thus it can be used for some further improvements.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia under Grant 174013 and 174026.

- Al-Osh, M.A., Alzaid, A.A. (1987) First-order Integervalued Autoregressive (INAR(1)) Process, Journal of Time Series Analysis 8, 261-275.
- [2] Latour, A. (1997) The Multivatiate GINAR(p) Process, Advances in Applied Probability 29, 228-248.
- [3] McKenzie, E. (1985) Some simple models for discrete variate time series, Water Resources Bulletin 21, 645-650.
- [4] Popović, P.M. (2016) A bivariate INAR(1) model with different thinning parameters, Statistical Papers 57, 517– 538.
- [5] Popović, P.M., Ristić, M.M., Nastić, A.S. (2016) A geometric bivariate time series with different marginal parameters, Statistical Papers, doi:10.1007/s00362-015-0677-z.
- [6] Ristić, M.M., Nastić, A.S., Jayakumar, K., Bakouch, H.S. (2012) A bivariate INAR(1) time series model with geometric marginals, Applied Mathematics Letters 25, 481-485.

Ultrametrics in Bioinformation

Branko Dragovich^{1,2}, Nataša Ž. Mišić³

¹Institute of Physics, University of Belgrade, Pregrevica 118, Belgrade, Serbia *
²Mathematical Institute, Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Kneza Mihaila 36, Belgrade, Serbia
³Lola Institute, Kneza Višeslava 70a, Belgrade, Serbia [†] *E-mail:* ¹dragovich@ipb.ac.rs, ³nmisic@rcub.bg.ac.rs

Keywords

ultrametrics; bioinformation; information theory; *p*-adic distance; genetic code

Summary

The choice of theoretical methods in the investigation of physical systems depends on their space and time scale as well as of their complexity. Sometimes standard methods are not sufficient and one has to invent a new advanced method. Biological systems belong to the most complex systems in the nature. In particular, biosystems which contain information are very complex and they cannot be reduced to the standard physical systems – they are something more than ordinary physical systems and need some new theoretical approaches to their description and understanding.

One of interesting tasks in information theory is how to describe similarity (or dissimilarity) between two information, especially between two bioinformation (similar structure - similar function). In an investigation of geometrical structure of physical system, we use ordinary (Euclidean and Riemannian) distance. However, when we are interested in the information content of a system, then some other distances between its elements emerge to be more adequate than the ordinary one. For example, the Hamming distance between two strings of equal length measures their similarity (dissimilarity): smaller Hamming distance - more similarity. However, Hamming distance is not appropriate when information has an ultrametric structure, i.e. when the elements at the beginning of sequence are more important than those at the end. In such case, an ultrametric distance is just what is necessary to measure similarity and then information system is an ultrametric space. An ultrametric space is a metric space in which

distance satisfies strong triangle inequality instead of the ordinary triangle equality, i.e. $d(x,y) \leq \max\{d(x,z), d(z,y)\}$. As a consequence of this ultrametric inequality, the ultrametric spaces have some rather unusual properties, e.g. all triangles are isosceles with one side length which cannot be larger than the other two.

There are many examples of ultrametric spaces which can be presented in the form of a tree, dendrogram or a fractal. The Baire metric and *p*-adic distance are typical examples of ultrametric distances. Ultrametrics has natural application in bioinformation, e.g. related to the taxonomy, phylogenesis and genetic code.

In this contribution we will demonstrate how a p-adic distance describes similarity between the codons in the case of vertebrate mitochondrial code [1, 2]. Then we will show how application of the p-adic distances can be extended to the amino acids, modified Hamming distance, similarity between strings of nucleotides, amino acids [3, 4].

- Dragovich, B. and Dragovich, A. A p-adic model of DNA sequence and genetic code, p-Adic Numbers, Ultrametric Analysis and Applications 1 (2009) 34–41; arXiv:qbio.GN/0607018.
- [2] Dragovich, B. and Dragovich, A. *p-Adic modelling of the genome and the genetic code*, Computer Journal **53** (2010) 432–442; arXiv:07073042[q-bio.OT].
- [3] Dragovich, B. On ultrametricity in bioinformation systems, in Proc. Theoretical Approaches to Bioinformation Systems (TABIS 2013). Published by Institute of Physics, Belgrade, Serbia, 2014.
- [4] Dragovich, B., Khrennikov, A. and Mišić, Ž. N. *Ultrametrics in bioinformation systems,* in preparation.

^{*}B. Dragovich is supported by the the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, projects 173052 and 174012.

[†]N. Ž. Mišić is supported by the the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia, through projects TR-32040 and TR-35023.

Fuzzy relations and their use in the study of complex fuzzy systems

Miroslav Ćirić¹, Jelena Ignjatović²

^{1,2} University of Niš, Faculty of Sciences, Department of Computer Science, Višegradska 33, 18000 Niš, Serbia * E-mail: ¹miroslav.ciric@pmf.edu.rs, ²jelena.ignjatovic@pmf.edu.rs

Keywords

Fuzzy relation equation; fuzzy automaton; fuzzy social network; fuzzy formal context; fuzzy control system

Summary

It is commonly known that throughout the history of fuzzy scientific research, fuzzy relations were early considered to be an efficient formal means for modeling a variety of complex phenomena (reasoning, decision, control, systems analysis and design, knowledge extraction, etc.) in the presence of uncertainty. Over the decades, fuzzy relations have gained a wide range of applications, and we review some of the latest, emerging from our research.

We start from applications in the theory of fuzzy automata. The key point in our research is that a fuzzy automaton A can be regarded as a fuzzy relational system – it can be specified by a family $\{\delta_x\}_{x \in X}$ of fuzzy transition relations on its set of states A, indexed by its input alphabet X, and fuzzy subsets σ and τ of A, the fuzzy subsets of initial and terminal states. If the composite fuzzy transition relations $\{\delta_u\}_{u \in X^*}$ are defined by putting that $\delta_{arepsilon}$ is the crisp equality, and $\delta_{ux}=$ $\delta_u \circ \delta_x$, for $u \in X^*$, $x \in X$, the fuzzy language recognized by \mathcal{A} is defined as a fuzzy subset $\llbracket \mathcal{A} \rrbracket$ of X^* given by $\llbracket \mathcal{A} \rrbracket(u) = \sigma \circ \delta_u \circ \tau$, for $u \in X^*$.¹ This way of viewing fuzzy automata, which was previously exploited only by few authors, enables to study fuzzy automata using fuzzy relational calculus, and to express many problems through fuzzy relation equations and inequalities.

The subject of our research were several fundamental problems of the theory of fuzzy automata. The first one is the *determinization*. Determinization of fuzzy automata is a procedure of their conversion into equivalent crisp-deterministic fuzzy automata, which can be viewed as being deterministic with possibly infinitely many states, but with fuzzy sets of terminal states. The standard determinization method, known as the subset construction, converts a nondeterministic automaton with n states to an equivalent deterministic automaton with up to 2^n states. The fuzzy version of this construction may even give an infinite crisp-deterministic fuzzy automaton. That is why an extremely important task is to find methods that will mitigate the potential enormous growth of the number of states during the determinization. Using an approach based on the fuzzy relational calculus, in a series of papers we have developed several such methods (cf. [3, 17, 25–28]), including two methods that always provide the minimal crisp-deterministic fuzzy automaton equivalent to the original fuzzy automaton (cf. [25, 28]).

Another fundamental problem of the theory of fuzzy automata we dealt with is the state reduction. In many real applications we are working with automata having a very large number of states, and an important practical problem is to reduce the number of states (or to minimize it, if possible), while preserving the basic function of the automaton. Unlike deterministic automata, the state minimization of fuzzy automata is computationally hard. For fuzzy automata a more practical problem is the state reduction, where a fuzzy automaton is replaced by an equivalent automaton with as small as possible number of states, which need not be minimal but must be effectively computable. In [11, 31] we reduced this problem to the problem of solving some specific systems of fuzzy relation equations and inequalities, where to get better reductions we search for greater solutions, preferably for the greatest one, if any.

The third problem we have considered in our research is whether two automata simulate each other, which is closely related to the problem whether two given automata are equivalent. The problem of the existence of simulation and bisimulation relations between two fuzzy automata we have also reduced to the problem of solvability of some specific systems of fuzzy relation equations and inequalities, and computing their greatest solutions, if they are solvable (cf. [5, 8, 9, 12, 24]).

The inequalities and equations which we have used in research in the theory of fuzzy automata can be writ-

^{*}Research supported by Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia, Grant No. 174013

¹Here X^* denotes the monoid of all words over $X, \varepsilon \in X^*$ is the empty word, and \circ denotes the compositions of two fuzzy relations, of a fuzzy set and a fuzzy relation and two fuzzy sets (when the underlying set is finite these are the matrix product, vector-matrix products and scalar product of vectors), defined in the usual way over a residuated lattice or lattice-ordered monoid.

ten in matrix form as $AX \leq XB$, $XB \leq AX$ and AX = XB, where A and B are given fuzzy relations (matrices) and X is an unknown fuzzy relation (matrix). We called such inequalities and equations *weakly linear*. In our further research, the systems consisting of weakly linear inequalities and equations have been studied from a general point of view (cf. [16, 18, 20]), what has also initiated research in an even more general context, of equations and inequalities on partially ordered sets defined by means of residuated and residual functions.

We have found that equations of the form AX = XAplay also a very important role in the social network analysis, a branch of sociology and mathematics which provides formal models and methods for the systematic study of social structures. Since social networks share many common properties with other types of networks, methods of social network analysis are applied to the analysis of networks in general, including many kinds of networks that arise in computer science, physics, biology, etc., such as the hyperlink structure on the Web, the electric grid, computer networks, information networks or various large-scale networks appearing in nature. In order to overcome the vagueness, which is unavoidable when discussing the relationships between individuals, it is guite natural to study social networks from the aspect of fuzzy set theory, what is being done in our research. Positional analysis is a discipline of social network analysis whose main aim is to identify the position or role of actors in the network on the basis of relationships between them. A key role in the positional analysis play regular equivalences, which are actually solutions to the aforementioned equation AX = XA, where A is a fuzzy relation that defines the considered fuzzy social network. This fact has initiated a wide application of systems of weakly linear equations and inequalities in the positional analysis of social networks, the study of multi-relational networks, as well as the study of simulations and bisimulations between fuzzy social networks (cf. [16, 18, 20, 22, 34]).

Social network analysis also deals with two-mode (bipartite) social networks. We have shown that positions in a two-mode fuzzy network can be identified by means of solutions to equations of the form XA = AY, where A is a fuzzy relation that defines the considered two-mode network, and X and Y are unknown fuzzy relations on each of two modes (cf. [32–34]). Moreover, we have also solved the corresponding problems for multi-relational two-mode fuzzy networks, as well as for multi-relational multi-mode fuzzy networks with an arbitrary number of components (cf. [10]). The obtained results can also be applied in the analysis of any kind of data represented by tables (object-attribute dependencies, formal contexts) for simultaneous reduction of objects, attibutes and relations between them.

The fourth field of applications of the equations and inequalities studied in our papers is *fuzzy control*. Fuzzy control theory deals with a system S composed of an input universe of discourse A and an output universe of discourse B. The input universe usually consists

of measured values of input variables, and the output universe consists of values of output variables, which are called control actions for the system S. The basic task of the fuzzy control theory is to determine a fuzzy control function relating input variables to output variables. Due to an intrinsic indistinguishability of measured values of state variables, input/output values are represented by suitable fuzzy subsets f_i of A and g_i of $B, i \in I$, and the dynamics of the system S are usually characterized by a system of IF-THEN rules IF xis f_i THEN y is g_i , $i \in I$. Each rule expresses a relation between elements from A and B, and the system of IF-THEN rules is modeled by a fuzzy relation R between A and B constructed from fuzzy sets f_i and g_i , $i \in I$. More precisely, a fuzzy relation R is assumed to be a solution to a system of fuzzy relation equations $f_i \circ R = g_i, i \in I$. We have provided a method for checking the solvability of this system in the case when ${f_i}_{i \in I}$ is a fuzzy partition and ${g_i}_{i \in I}$ is a fuzzy partition or a fuzzy semi-partition (cf. [7]). When the system is solvable, by the same method we construct a solution and solve the corresponding defuzzification problem.

It is worth noting that we can also consider equations of the form $f \circ R = g$, where R is given, but f and g are unknown, whose special cases are equations of the form $f \circ R = f$, known as an eigen fuzzy set equations. These equations play an important role in the stability analysis of fuzzy control systems, but also in other areas such as image reconstruction and medical diagnosis. We have provided methods for computing the greatest solutions to systems of eigen fuzzy set equations and the corresponding inequalities, and both for systems of equations and inequalities we characterize sets of their solutions (cf. [23]). The same systems have been also applied in the study of subsystems of fuzzy transition systems (cf. [21]).

- Batagelj, V. Large scale social network analysis, in: R. A. Meyers (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Complexity and Systems Science, Springer, New York, 2009, pp. 8245– 8265.
- [2] Bělohlávek, R. *Fuzzy Relational Systems: Foundations and Principles*, Kluwer, New York, 2002.
- [3] Ćirić, M., Droste, M., Ignjatović, J. and Vogler, H. Determinization of weighted finite automata over strong bimonoids, Information Sciences 180 (2010) 3497-3520.
- [4] Ćirić, M. and Ignjatović, J. *Fuzziness in Automata Theory: Why? How?*, in: R. Seising, E. Trillas, C. Moraga, S. Termini (eds.), On Fuzziness, A Homage to Lotfi A. Zadeh, Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing Vol. 298, Berlin New York, Springer 2013, pp. 109–116.
- [5] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J., Bašić, M. and Jančić, I. Nondeterministic automata: equivalence, bisimulations, and uniform relations, Information Sciences 261 (2014) 185– 218.
- [6] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J. and Bogdanović, S. Fuzzy equivalence relations and their equivalence classes, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 158 (2007) 1295–1313.
- [7] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J. and Bogdanović, S. Uniform fuzzy relations and fuzzy functions, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 160 (2009) 1054–1081.

- [8] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J., Damljanović, N. and Bašić, M. Bisimulations for fuzzy automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 186 (2012) 100–139.
- [9] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J., Jančić, I. and Damljanović, N., Computation of the greatest simulations and bisimulations between fuzzy automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 208 (2012) 22–42.
- [10] Ćirić, M., Ignjatović, J. and Stanković, I. Regular fuzzy equivalences on multi-mode multi-relational fuzzy networks, in: Proc. of the Conference IFSA-EUSFLAT 2015, Gijón, Asturias, Spain, Advances in Intelligent Systems Research Vol. 89, 2015, pp. 398–403.
- [11] Ćirić, M., Stamenković, A., Ignjatović, J. and Petković, T. Fuzzy relation equations and reduction of fuzzy automata, Journal of Computer and System Sciences 76 (2010) 609–633.
- [12] Damljanović, N., Ćirić, M. and Ignjatović, J. Bisimulations for weighted automata over an additively idempotent semiring, Theoretical Computer Science 534 (2014) 86–100.
- [13] Doreian, P. Positional analysis and blockmodeling, in: R. A. Meyers (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Complexity and Systems Science, Springer, New York, 2009, pp. 6913– 6927.
- [14] Doreian, P., Batagelj, V. and Ferligoj, A. *Generalized Blockmodeling*, Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [15] Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. Formal power series and regular operations on fuzzy languages, Information Sciences 180 (2010) 1104–1120.
- [16] Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. Weakly linear systems of fuzzy relation inequalities and their applications: A brief survey, Filomat 26(2) (2012), 207–241.
- [17] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M. and Bogdanović, S. Determinization of fuzzy automata with membership values in complete residuated lattices, Information Sciences 178 (2008) 164–180.
- [18] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M. and Bogdanović, S. On the greatest solutions to weakly linear systems of fuzzy relation inequalities and equations, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 161 (2010) 3081–3113.
- [19] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M., Bogdanović, S. and Petković, T. Myhill-Nerode type theory for fuzzy languages and automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 161 (2010) 1288-1324.
- [20] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M., Damljanović, N. and Jančić,
 I. Weakly linear systems of fuzzy relation inequalities: The heterogeneous case, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 199 (2012) 64–91.

- [21] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M. and Simović, V. Fuzzy relation equations and subsystems of fuzzy transition systems, Knowledge-Based Systems 38 (2013) 48–61.
- [22] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M. and Stanković, I. *Bisimulations in fuzzy social network analysis*, in: Proc. of the Conference IFSA-EUSFLAT 2015, Gijón, Asturias, Spain, Advances in Intelligent Systems Research Vol. 89, 2015, pp. 404–411.
- [23] Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M., Šešelja, B. and Tapavčević, A. Fuzzy relation inequalities and equations, fuzzy quasiorders, and closures and openings of fuzzy sets, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 260 (2015) 1–24.
- [24] Jančić, I. Weak bisimulations for fuzzy automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 249 (2014) 49–72.
- [25] Jančić, Z. and Ćirić, M. Brzozowski type determinization for fuzzy automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 249 (2014) 73–82.
- [26] Jančić, Z., Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. An improved algorithm for determinization of weighted and fuzzy automata, Information Sciences 181 (2011) 1358–1368.
- [27] Jančić, Z., Micić, I., Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. Further improvements of determinization methods for fuzzy finite automata, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 301 (2016) 79– 102.
- [28] Micić, I., Jančić, Z., Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. Determinization of fuzzy automata by means of the degrees of language inclusion, IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems 23 (6) (2015) 2144–2153.
- [29] Sanchez, E. *Equations de relations floues*, Thèse de Doctorat, Faculté de Médecine de Marseille, 1974.
- [30] Stamenković, A. and Ćirić, M. Construction of fuzzy automata from fuzzy regular expressions, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 199 (2012) 1–27.
- [31] Stamenković, A., Ćirić, M. and Ignjatović, J. Reduction of fuzzy automata by means of fuzzy quasi-orders, Information Sciences 275 (2014) 168–198.
- [32] Stanković, I., Ćirić, M. and Ignjatović, J. *Fuzzy relation* equations and inequalities with two unknowns and their applications, Fuzzy Sets and Systems (to appear).
- [33] Stanković, I., Ignjatović, J. and Ćirić, M. Boolean relation equations in data analysis, in: Proc. of the 9th IEEE International Symposium on Intelligent Systems and Informatics (SISY 2011), Subotica, Serbia, 2011, pp. 125– 130.
- [34] Stanković, I., Micić, I. and Jančić, Z. Computation of the greatest regular equivalence, Filomat 30 (2016) 179– 190.

Quantum Information: Fundamentals and Prospects

Miroljub Dugić¹, Jasmina Jeknić-Dugić²

¹Department of physics, Faculty of Science, Kragujevac, Serbia
²Department of physics, Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Niš, Serbia
E-mail: ¹dugic@kg.ac.rs, ²jjeknic@pmf.ni.ac.rs

Keywords

quantum information; quantum computation; quantum foundations

Summary

Intuitively, "information" is a "surprise"—an "unexpected" outcome of a physical process of observation (measurement). Hence the usefulness of the quantum systems that are irreducibly random. More precisely, the process of quantum measurement is *par excellance* "information source".

Every single act of quantum measurement disturbs the (quantum) object of measurement and makes the outcome unpredictable, nevertheless describable by certain probability distribution (or probability density).

In order to have some control on the object of measurement, of interest is special kind of quantum measurement-the so-called predictable measurement. which allows for uniquely known the final state of the system (i.e. of the statistical ensemble of systems) [1, 2]. This kind of measurement is paradigmatic as pointing the influence of the measurement apparatus that is mathematically described by the so-called completelypositive trace preserving (CPTP) maps. Furthermore, most of the physically investigated external influences on a quantum system are described by those CPTP maps [3]. Fragility of the quantum systems under external influence implies that the quantum information resources (QIR) are rather fragile themselves. Hence one of the central task of the quantum information processing (and computation) is preservation of QIR.

Quantification of information as well as of the external influence on the quantum system goes with a proper definition of "entropy" and the derived quantities, such as "mutual quantum information" or "relative entropy". The most used and best investigated quantum entropy is the so-called "von Neumann entropy". The CPTP maps increase the von Neumann entropy, i.e. decrease the information about the system [1].

Quantum bit (qubit) is any two-dimensional unitary vector space. The choice of an orthonormalized basis (socalled "computational basis") is analogous to the classical "bit". However, linearity of quantum mechanics and of quantum dynamics introduce new kinds of information resources: (a) quantum parallelism, (b) uncertainty relations, and (c) quantum correlations (entanglement and discord) [1, 2, 4]. Those classically unknown characteristics of quantum systems ultimately base certain quantum protocols and algorithms, such as quantum cryptography [5], large numbers factoring [6], quantum simulations [1] and open the route to the information processing on large molecules [7]–the emerging field of quantum technology.

Practical quantum technology requires non-trivial operational control and experimental skills, notably scalability of the quantum hardware and its isolation from the environment thus making quantum technology the true technology of the 21st century with the indispensable role of the quantum foundations.

We acknowledge partial financial support by the ICTP-SEENET-MTP grant PRJ-09 Strings and Cosmology in frame of the SEENET-MTP Network.

- [1] Nielsen, M.A., and Chuang, I.L. *Quantum computation and quantum information*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2000.
- [2] Dugić, M. Quantum information and quantum computation (in Serbian), Faculty of Science, University of Kragujevac, 2009.
- [3] Rivas, Á., and Huelga, S.F. Open quantum systems: an introduction, SpringerBriefs in Physics, Springer, Berlin, 2011.
- [4] Modi K. et al. *The classical-quantum boundary for correlations: Discord and related measures*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012), 1655-1707.
- [5] Bennett, C.H., and Brassard, G. Quantum cryptography: Public key distribution and coin tossing, In Proc. IEEE International Conference on Computers, Systems and Signal Processing, 1 (1984), 175-179.
- [6] Shor, P.W. Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer, SIAM J. Computing, 26 (1997), 1484-1509.
- [7] Jeknić-Dugić, J. The environment-inducedsuperselection model of the large-molecules conformational stability and transitions, Europ. Phys. J. D, 51 (2009), 193-204.

Limitations of Nakajima-Zwanzig method

Momir Arsenijević

Prirodno-matematički fakultet, Kragujevac Radoja Domanovića 12, Srbija * E-mail: momirarsenijevic@kg.ac.rs

Keywords

quantum correlations relativity; quantum structure; Nakajima-Zwanzig projection method

Summary

Quantum correlations (including quantum entanglement) are now widely recognized as a fundamental ingredient in tasks related to guantum information and quantum computation [1, 2, 3]. Recently established rules about entanglement relativity and guantum correlations relativity [4, 5, 6] emphasize the role of "quantum structure": non-classical correlations are the matter of the system's structure (i.e. of the system's partition into subsystems). By "structure" here is meant a set of the degrees of freedom, while structures are mutually related by linear canonical transformation (LCT), which can target local or global degrees of freedom. Some of the LCT examples are: composite system's center of mass and the "relative (internal)" degrees of freedom, fine and coarse graining, permutation of degrees of freedom, exchange of particles etc [7]. Nakajima-Zwanzig projection method is one of the

Nakajima-Zwanzig projection method is one of the most used techniques for obtaining open system's dynamical equation, that carries all the possible information regarding the open system and its dynamics—so called quantum master equation [8, 9]. Open quantum system is a part of a whole composed of open system plus the environment. Having in mind that particles exchange between open system and environment is one example of LCT, and structure dependence of non-classical correlations, it is natural to ask how the projection method fits in this "LCT induced relativity". It turns out, in contrast to classical intuition, that adding/removing one or more particles) do not have similar dynamics. Projection method is of no use for deducing dynamics of the "new" structure on the ground of known master equation. In other words: the analysis of the new degrees of freedom should be started from the scratch. This conclusion refers to finite- and infinite-dimensional quantum systems and to arbitrary kinds of system-

where difference is due to

References

environment splitting.

similar systems (e.g.

- [1] G. Fraser, Ed., *The New Physics for the twenty-first century* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006).
- [2] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang, *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information*, (Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2000).
- [3] Q. G. Chen, D. A. Church, B.-G. Englert, C. Henkel, B. Rohwedder, M. O. Scully, and M. S. Zubairy, *Quantum Computing Devices: Principles, Designs and Analysis*, (Chapman and Hall, 2006).
- [4] V. Vedral, Central Eur.J.Phys. 1, 289 (2003).
- [5] A. C. de la Torre et al, Eur. J. Phys. 31, 325
- [6] M. Dugić, M. Arsenijević, and Jeknić-Dugić, J. Sci. China Phys. Mech. Astron. 56, 732 (2013)
- [7] J. Jeknić-Dugić, M. Arsenijević, and M. Dugić, *Quantum Structures: A View of the Quantum World*, (LAP Lambert Academic Publishing, Saarbrücken, 2013).
- [8] Á. Rivas and S. F. Huelga, *Open Quantum Systems An Introduction*, (Springer Briefs in Physics, 2012).
- [9] H. P. Breuer and F. Petruccione, *The Theory of Open Quantum Systems* (Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2002).

^{*}The author is financially supported by the Ministry of education, science and technology Serbia under the grant no. 171028.

Generalized entropies: review and open questions

Velimir M. Ilić¹, Miomir S. Stanković²

¹ Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Kneza Mihaila 36, 11000 Beograd, Serbia * ² University of Niš, Faculty of Occupational Safety, Čarnojevića 10a, 18000 Niš, Serbia * E-mail: ¹velimir.ilic@gmail.com, ²miomir.stankovic@gmail.com

Keywords

generalized entropy; Shannon-Khinchin axioms; nonextensive thermostatistics; maximum entropy; thermodynamical stability

Summary

Due to their thermostatistic properties, generalized entropies are very useful for systems which exhibit powerlaw statistics and form a basis for non-extensive thermostatistics. They are used in a number of different fields, such as complex systems, economics, social sciences and physics [3]. Different axiomatic systems have been proposed in order to characterize mathematical structure of the generalized entropies, which is helpful for understanding their fundamental properties. In [4], we introduced Shannon-Khinchin axioms for the case of quasi-linear mean nonadditive entropies. Thus, we characterized a wide class of entropies which contains Tsallis, Rényi, Sharma-Mittal and Gaussian entropies, as special cases.

Previous research has shown that the power law distributions are connected to generalized entropies via the maximum entropy principles, and that fact spawned an extensive body of work on non-extensive thermostatistics. This includes establishment of maximum entropy distribution, Legendre structure of thermodynamics, thermodynamic stability and Lesche stability conditions for different generalizations of Shannon entropy [8], [9], [6], [10], [2] and [7].

Here, we show that the maximum entropy distribution, which correspond to the generalized entropy [4], asymptotically approaches the power law, we derive a corresponding Legendre structure and thermodynamic stability condition. Therefore, we unified and generalized many of the previous results for Shannon entropy [5], [1], Rényi and Tsallis entropies [8], [9], [6], [10], Sharma-Mittal entropy [2] and Gaussian entropy [7]. The results further justify the usage of the entropy for complex systems with power law behavior.

Some directions for future research in the fields of characterization of generalized entropies and generalized thermostatistics are also presented.

- [1] H.B. Callen. *Thermodynamics and an Introduction to Thermostatistics*. Wiley, 1985.
- [2] T.D. Frank and A.R. Plastino. Generalized thermostatistics based on the sharma-mittal entropy and escort mean values. *The European Physical Journal B - Condensed Matter and Complex Systems*, 30(4):543–549, 2002.
- [3] M. Gell-Mann and C. Tsallis. Nonextensive Entropy -Interdisciplinary Applications. April 2004.
- [4] Velimir M Ilić and Miomir S Stanković. Generalized shannon–khinchin axioms and uniqueness theorem for pseudo-additive entropies. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 411:138–145, 2014.
- [5] E. T. Jaynes. Information theory and statistical mechanics. *Phys. Rev.*, 106:620–630, May 1957.
- [6] E.K. Lenzi, R.S. Mendes, and L.R. da Silva. Statistical mechanics based on renyi entropy. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 280(3–4):337 – 345, 2000.
- [7] Th. Oikonomou. Properties of the "non-extensive gaussian"entropy. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 381(0):155 – 163, 2007.
- [8] John D. Ramshaw. Thermodynamic stability conditions for the tsallis and rényi entropies. *Physics Letters A*, 198(2):119 – 121, 1995.
- [9] Constantino Tsallis, RenioS. Mendes, and A.R. Plastino. The role of constraints within generalized nonextensive statistics. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 261(3–4):534 – 554, 1998.
- [10] Tatsuaki Wada. On the thermodynamic stability conditions of tsallis' entropy. *Physics Letters A*, 297(5–6):334 – 337, 2002.

^{*}Research supported by Ministry of Science, Republic of Serbia, Grant Nos. III044006 and ON174026

Associative nature of conference participation dynamics: an empirical analysis and modeling

Jelena Smiljanić¹, Marija Mitrović Dankulov²

Scientific Computing Laboratory, Institute of Physics Belgrade, University of Belgrade Pregrevica 118, 11080 Belgrade, Serbia * E-mail: ¹jelena.smiljanic@ipb.ac.rs, ²marija.mirovic@ipb.ac.rs

Keywords

science of science; truncated power law; Pólya process; positive feedback; community inclusiveness

Summary

The search for regularities in scientific activities has attracted a large research interest in recent years [3]. The methods of statistical physics have been widely used to analyze patterns of scientific publications, collaborations and citations in scientific journals [2, 4, 1]. Despite the important role participation in scientific conferences has both for the individual careers of scientists, as well as for the development of science itself, little work has been done on understanding mechanisms that underlie conference participation dynamics. In this work we present results from the empirical analysis of conference participation patterns at six conferences of different sizes and from different fields of science for the period of three decades [5]. We focus on the distribution of the total number of participations, number of successive participations and the time lag between two consecutive conference participations for each author and find that all these properties exhibit truncated power-law behavior, regardless of the conference size and degree of specialization. The observed statistical evidence indicates that scientists don't attend conference randomly with some constant probability. In order to investigate the mechanism behind conference participation patterns, we propose a microscopic stochastic model that can fit observed data. The model is based on two key ingredients. 2bin generalized Pólya process and random termination time of a conference career. The model parameters,

obtained using Monte Carlo simulations, indicate that conference participation dynamics is governed by positive feedback mechanism. Accordingly, the probability for a scientist to re-attend a conference grows superlineary with the number of participations, while the frequent pauses have the opposite effect. This finding suggests that the social component has important role in conference choice. An active participation in a conference series strengthens the scientists association with that particular conference community and thus increases the probability of future participations. The fact that the model predicts participation patterns for all six observed conferences regardless of their sizes or research fields indicates its universal character. We expect to see similar participation dynamics in other types of social groups.

- Petersen, A.M., Riccaboni, M., Stanley, H.E., Pammolli, F. *Persistence and uncertainty in the academic career*, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109, **14** (2012), 5213-5218.
- [2] Radicchi, F., Fortunato, S., Castellano, C. Universality of citation distributions: Toward an objective measure of scientific impact, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105, 45 (2008), 17268-17272.
- [3] Schweitzer, F. Scientific networks and success in science EPJ Data Science, 3 (2014), 35.
- [4] Sinatra, R., Wang, D., Deville, P., Song, C., Barabasi, A.L. *Scientific impact: the story of your big hit*, In: APS Meeting Abstracts, (2014), 17004.
- [5] Smiljanic, J., Chatterjee, A., Kauppinen, T., and Dankulov, M.M. A Theoretical Model for the Associative Nature of Conference Participation, PLoS ONE 11, 2 (2016), e0148528.

^{*}The authors are supported by the ON171017, The Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia

The structure of communities in networks co-evolving with online social interactions

Marija Mitrović Dankulov¹, Bosiljka Tadić²

¹Scientific Computing Laboratory, Institute of Physics Belgrade, University of Belgrade Pregrevica 118, 11080 Belgrade, Serbia * ²Department of Theoretical Physics, Institute Jozef Stefa Ljubljana, Slovenia [†]

Keywords

bipartite networks; online interactions; collective behaviour; community structure;

Summary

The appearance of communities, recognisable by formal graph theory in the underlying bipartite networks, is an essential feature of online collaborative behaviour. Using the empirical data and theoretical modelling, we demonstrate how the emergence of community structure relates to the self-organized dynamics and (cognitive, emotional) contents of the involved artefacts.

The prevalence of information communication technologies in everyday activities of a significant portion of the world population resulted in the vast amount of data. On the Web, people exchange information and emotions, engage in solving problems, provide support, influence each others opinion, or search for a soulmate. The availability of large-scale data has enabled researchers from different fields to search for trends and *laws* in social systems analogous to ones observed in natural science [1]. In this context, the use of methods of Statistical Physics is crucial to describe the emergence of collective phenomena appropriately in these social systems [2].

Combining the methods of Statistical Physics with Graph Theory and Machine Learning methods of text analysis, recently we developed a systematic approach to analyse the collective social behaviour from the empirical data and provide theoretical modelling [3, 4]. Specifically, this approaches revealed the underlying mechanisms leading to the emergence of common emotions via exchange of emotional messages on Blogs [3] and the creation of collective knowledge in Questions& Answers systems [4]. In these online systems, the interactions among actual participants in the process occur trough creations of artefacts (questions and answers, post and comments), which suitably map onto *co-evolving bipartite networks*, with the users as one partition, and the artefacts, as the other. The analysis of the topology of these networks uncovers their partitioning into mesoscopic communities—the users grouped around certain artefacts, where the main social activities concentrate. These groups appear topologically well separated as well as conceptually relatively independent from each other. Therefore, the research of the collective social behaviour in a large dataset reduces to the identification of communities in these bipartite networks (and monopartite projections) and understanding their evolution mechanisms concerning the contents of the involved artefacts.

Here, we apply this methodology to study the collaborative problem solving in Question and Answer (Q& A) sites [4]. We demonstrate how the user cooperation leads to the emergence of knowledge as a collective value in an extensive network of actors and artefacts. We also show that the occurrence of communities is self-organized and closely relates to the longrange correlations in time series. Furthermore, using the agent-based modelling, we examine the structure of connections and formation of communities concerning the level of expertise of the actors, which we can vary within the model. Our results show that the dynamics of collective knowledge building is strongly influenced by the distribution of expertise and the activity patterns of the principal actors.

- Lazer D., Pentland A. S., Adamic L., Aral S., Barabasi A. L., Brewer D., et al. *Life in the network: the coming age of computational social science*, Science 323 (5915), (2009) 721–723.
- [2] Sen P. and Chakrabarti B.K. *Sociophysics: An Introduction*, Oxford University Press, Oxford; (2014).
- [3] Mitrović M., Paltoglou G. and Tadić B., Quantitative analysis of bloggers' collective behavior powered by emotions, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2011 (2), (2011) P02005.
- [4] Mitrović M., Melnik R. and Tadić B., *The dynamics of meaningful social interactions and the emergence of collective knowledge*, Scientific Reports 5, (2015), 12197.

^{*}The first author is supported by ON171017, The Ministry of Education, Science, and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia [†]The second author is supported by the Program P1-0044 of The Research Agency of The Republic of Slovenia

The Width of Complexity Potential as an Integral Factor of Science

Bojan M. Tomić¹, Milica M. Tomić²

 ¹Institute for Multidisciplinary Research, University of Belgrade,
 1 Kneza Višeslava st., 11030 Belgrade, Serbia *
 ² University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

E-mail: ¹ bojantomic@imsi.rs, ² tomic.milica.bg@gmail.com

Keywords

complexity; fractality; new methods; cultural heritage; Orthodox icon

Summary

Complex systems theory represents an umbrella term for various types of research that include dynamical systems, discrete dynamical systems and cellular automata, game theory, information theory, networks, computational complexity, numerical methods, agentbased modeling and more [1]. Organizational clusters of complex systems reveal dozens of thematic frameworks, because each of these is covering several. For the chaos theory the turning point is considered to be in 1970-s [2], while the end of the second and the beginning of the third millennium is considered a milestone for complexity [3].

The frequent appearances of topics that are not classical example of complex systems and those that are not studied within mainstream scientific disciplines are of particular interest. Even the mere titles of papers in the field of fractality, which is a very illustrative field, draw the scientists' attention. Some of these topics are: structural scaling of Johann Sebastian Bach's Cello Suite No. 3 [4], fractal behaviors in a soccer game [5], measuring the temperature of texts [6], fractal analysis of different musical instruments [7], complexity perturbations in tanpura signals [8].

It is very interesting to look at the most cited papers in the field of complexity, as well as at the most approached works. They illustrate the impact of complexity as well as its permanent appearance in new areas. Among these are: Risk evaluation of diabetes mellitus by relation of chaotic globals to HRV [9], Cosmological natural selection and the purpose of the universe [10] etc.

Looking at the originating and linking of the fields over the period of the last 60-70 years (taking, for example, cybernetics as the starting point [11]) it is clear what kind of theoretical diversification we are talking about – the one that corresponds to the observed phenomena in natural as well as in social sciences. In the context of the diversity of topics we give an example from the practice of local authors. It is about a research that is completely unknown and new in this field. It is a specific, integral approach to an Orthodox icon that includes fractality, self-organization, examination specific geometry, lighting and the role of observer [12]. This was preceded by the following steps: the research of quantification of selforganization and complexity by which a door to a new methodological framework for dealing with data is opened [13,14]; simultaneously, the work on the application of new methods in working with cultural heritage [15], primarily Orthodox iconography, was being created [16]. Consideration of the role of the observer in this model was based on relying on phenomena of quantum optics [17].

The presented example is a typical indicator of the potential which complexity has, as well as its power of integration.

- [1] Newman, M.E.J. Complex Systems: A Survey. *Am. J. Phys.* 79 (2011), 800-810.
- [2] Steve, S. Finding a Horseshoe on the Beaches of Rio. in: The Chaos Avant-Garde: Memories of the Early Days of Chaos Theory. Abraham, R., and Ueda, Y. (eds.). World Scientific, Singapore, NJ, London, 2000, 8.
- [3] Gell-Mann, M. What is complexity? *Remarks on simplicity and complexity by the Nobel Prize-winning author of* The Quark and the Jaguar. *Complexity* 1 (1995), 16-19. doi:10.1002/cplx.6130010105
- [4] Brothers, H.J. Structural Scaling in Bach's Cello Suite No. 3. *Fractals* 15, 1 (2007), 89-95.
- [5] Kim, S. Player's positional dependence of fractal behaviors in a soccer game. *Fractals* 14, 1 (2006) 71-76.
- [6] Miyazima, S., and Yamamoto, K. Measuring the temperature of texts. *Fractals* 16, 1 (2008), 25-32.
- [7] Das, A., and Das P. Fractal Analysis of Different Eastern and Western Musical Instruments. *Fractals* 14, 3 (2006), 165-170.

^{*}The first author is supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia through the project OI 179048.

- [8] Sengupta, R., Dey N., and Datta, A.K. Assessment of Musical Quality of Tanpura by Fractal-dimensional Analysis. *Fractals* 13, 3 (2005) 245-252.
- [9] De Souza, N.M., Vanderlei, L.C.M., and Garner, D.M. Risk evaluation of diabetes mellitus by relation of chaotic globals to HRV. *Complexity* 20 (2015), 84-92. doi:10.1002/cplx.21508
- [10] Gardner, A., and Conlon, J.P. Cosmological natural selection and the purpose of the universe. *Complexity* 18 (2013), 48-56. doi:10.1002/cplx.21446
- [11] Tomic B. Development of Thought in Moving to Multidisciplinarity: Turning Point for Artificial Intelligence. *Vojno delo* 65, 3 (2013), 182-188.
- [12] Milovanović, M., and Tomić, B.M. Fractality and selforganization in the orthodox iconography. *Complexity* 21 (2016), 55-68. doi:10.1002/cplx.21710
- [13] Milovanović, M., and Rajković, M. Quantifying selforganization with optimal wavelets. *Eur. Phys. Lett.* 102 (2013), 40004.
- [14] Milovanović, M. Quantifying Self-organization and Comlexity Based on Optimal Wave Choise. Faculty of Technical Sciences, University of Novi Sad, doctoral thesis, 2013.
- [15] Tomic B. Contemporary Chemical and Physical Analytical Methods in Studies of Art Materials (development of multidisciplinary approach in 2009). *Iconography* 4 (2010), 83-105.
- [16] Tomic B. Expertise in Art and Expertise in Theology in the Example of Project on Light for Iconographers. *Church studies* 8 (2011), 405-412.
- [17] Tomic B. New Light of Icon. *Essays on Iconography* 1 (2011), 127-157.

Complexity Based Aesthetics and Gnoseology

Miloš Milovanović¹, Gordana Medić-Simić²

¹Mathematical Institute SASA, Kneza Mihaila 36, Belgrade, Serbia ^{*} ²University of Belgrade, Studentski trg 1, Belgrade, Serbia

E-mail: ¹milosm@mi.sanu.ac.rs, ²gmedicsimic@gmail.com

Keywords

complexity; aesthetics; gnoseology; self-organized systems; wavelet domain hidden Markov model

Summary

The prior results concerning the originality of artworks in terms of the complex systems physics [1] have been elaborated in order to elucidate their ontological context. It has been demonstrated that the originality issue, such conceived leads to a criterion of applied aesthetics that is not restricted to the fine arts domain covering also physics, biology, cosmology and other fields construed in complex systems terms.

The aforementioned conception, however, transcends the viewpoint of modern humanities supporting the individualistic concept of originality. It reveals aesthetics figured through inspiration whereat the originality is established through self-organization, implying a process that is not of individual character. By such a paradigmatic art the authors consider medieval ecclesial art referring exactly to the Orthodox iconography of Byzantine style [2]. On the other hand, since corresponded to self-organization such aesthetics is not only the philosophy of art but also the philosophy of science. A paradigmatic science in that regard is considered to be just the complex systems physics.

The computational neuroscience related to the complex systems [3] conjugates the access with neuroaesthetics [4] indicating an opportunity of its foundation in an accurate manner. The computation concerned should correspond to the neural substrates of aesthetics relating sensation and neural activity that is the crucial aim of psychophysics in Fechner's view [5] referred to as inner psychophysics.

The basic assumption of the model is the signal space $L^2(\Re)$ consisting of square integrable function defined on the real line. The discretization of the signal space due to a base choice corresponds to an individual perception relating stimulation and sensation that is referred to by Fechner as outer psychophysics [5]. The inner psychophysics, however, is related to self-organization in a hierarchical base having implied statistical model of the wavelet coefficients [6]. Estimation of the model parameters using the Baum-Welch algorithm [7] includes an iterative upward-downward procedure

that fits well to the predictive coding model of perception [8]. The exponential decay of the coefficients across scale [9] has reproduced Fechner's law stating that the sensation scale is proportional to the logarithm of the stimulus.

The model concerns an ontology substantiating both art and science upon the originality issue. Moreover, it corresponds to the truth criterion of a substantial gnoseology actually implied by Gethmann-Siefert theory of art [10].

- Rajković M. and Milovanović M. Self-organization and creation in art, *TINKOS 2014*, 16–17 June 2014, Niš, Serbia, 49.
- [2] Milovanović, M. and Tomić, B. Fractality and selforganization in the orthodox iconography, *Complexity*, 2016, 21 (1), 55-68.
- [3] Siegelmann, H. Complex systems science and brain dynamics, *Front. Comput. Neurosci.*, 2010, 4, 7.
- [4] Pearce M., Zaidel D., Vartanian O., Skov M., Leder H., Chatterjee A. and Nadal M. Neuroaesthetics: The Cognitive Neuroscience of Aesthetic Experience, *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 2016, 11 (2), 265-279.
- [5] Fechner, G.T. *Elemente der Psychophysik* [Elements of psychophysics], Breitkopf und Härtel, Leipzig, 1860.
- [6] Milovanović M. and Rajković M. Quantifying Selforganization with Optimal Wavelets, *Eur. Phys. Lett.*, 2013, 102, 40004.
- [7] Crouse M, Nowak R and Baraniuk R (1998) Waveletbased statistical signal processing using hidden Markov models. *IEEE Trans. Signal Proc.*, 1998, 46 (4), 886-902.
- [8] Kilner J. M., Friston K. J. and Frith C. D. Predictive coding: an account of the mirror neuron system. *Cogn. Process.*, 2007, 8, 159-166.
- [9] Choi, H., Baraniuk, R.G. Wavelet statistical models and Besov spaces. In: *Nonlinear Estimation and Classification*, Springer-Verlag: New York, 2003, pp.9-29.
- [10] Gethmann-Siefert A., *Einführung in die* Ästhetik, Wilhelm Fink, Munch, 1955.

^{*}The author is supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic Serbia through the projects OI 174014 and III 44006, also by the Joint Japan-Serbia Centre for the promotion of Science and Technology of the University in Belgrade and the ITO Foundation fir the International Education Exchange.

ABCDepth: Computation of High-dimensional Tukey Median

Milica Bogićević¹, Milan Merkle²

¹ University of Belgrade, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Bulevar Kralja Aleksandra 73, 11120 Belgrade, Serbia
 ² University of Belgrade, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Bulevar Kralja Aleksandra 73, 11120 Belgrade, Serbia
 E-mail: ¹ antomripmuk@yahoo.com, ² emerkle@etf.rs

Keywords

Data centrality, Multivariate medians, Tukey median, Tukey depth, Complexity computation

Summary

The Tukey depth of a point $oldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ relative to a multivariate data set is defined as the minimal number of observations in any closed halfspace that contains x. With respect to this definition, Tukey median is a point x with maximal Tukey depth. We present an approximate algorithm for Tukey (halfspace) median, i.e. for finding deepest location in higher dimensions. Given d-dimensional data set for any d > 2, the algorithm is based on representation of level sets as intersections of balls in \mathbb{R}^d . The algorithm complexity is $O(dn^2 + n^2 \log n)$ where n is the data set size. It's very efficient and it can accept thousands of multidimensional observations, while other algorithms are tested with two-dimensional data or with a couple of hundreds multidimensional observations. The algorithm can be easily adapted to work not only with balls, but with other convex sets, so the appropriate name is Algorithm based on Balls or other Convex sets to evaluate Deepest points, or ABCDepth.

A basic statistical tasks is to simplify a large amount of data using some values derived from the dataset as representative points. Among many ways to choose representative points, a natural idea is to choose those that are located in the center of data set. One way to define a center is to define what is meant by deepness, and then to define the center as the set of deepest points. In [9] John W. Tukey proposed the halfspace depth as a new approach to visualize bivariate data sets by ordering data according to their depth, i.e. centrality in the data cloud. In \mathbb{R}^d with d > 1, there are several different concepts of depth and medians (see for example [6], [7], [8]).

The theoretical background of ABCDepth algorithm relies on depth functions based on families of convex sets. Let us denote \mathcal{V} as the family of all open half-spaces and their complements as closed half-spaces. Then, the usual definition of Tukey depth can be defined as

$$D(x;\mu) = \inf\{\mu(H) \mid x \in H \in \mathcal{H}\},\tag{1}$$

where \mathcal{H} is the family of all closed halfspaces and μ is the corresponding distribution, i.e., a probability mea-

sure on $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B})$.

A depth function can be defined based on different families \mathcal{V} . We say that families \mathcal{V}_1 and \mathcal{V}_2 are depthequivalent if $D_{\mathcal{V}_1}(x;\mu) = D_{\mathcal{V}_2}(x;\mu)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and all probability measures μ . Sufficient conditions for depthequivalence are given in [1, Theorem 2.1], and it was shown there that in the case of half-space depth the following families are depth-equivalent: a) family of all open halfspaces; b) all closed halfspaces; c) all convex sets; d) all compact convex sets; e) all balls. For determining level sets, among all other types of convex sets, we choose balls in such way that the level set is defined as:

$$S_{\alpha}(\mu, \mathcal{V}) = \bigcap_{B \in \mathcal{V}, \#\{x_i: \ x_i \in B\} \ge \lfloor n(1-\alpha)+1 \rfloor} B, \quad (2)$$

where $\alpha \in (0, 1]$, n is a set of data points $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ and B is a ball that contains at least $\lfloor n(1-\alpha)+1 \rfloor$ data points.

Detailed theorems and proofs are given in [1], [2] and [3].

Algorithm implementation takes three steps. At the step one, we calculate Euclidian inter-distances of points and it runs in $O(dn^2)$ time. The second step constructs the data structure that contains sorted distances for each data point. This step has complexity of $O(n^2 \log n)$. Finally, the third step determines level sets and, as a consequence, a median since $\alpha_1 < \alpha_2, S_{\alpha_1} \supseteq S_{\alpha_2}$ and $S_{\alpha} = \emptyset$ for $\alpha > \alpha_m$, where α_m is the maximal depth. Third step runs in $O(n^2)$. Altogether, the ABCDepth complexity is

$$O(dn^2) + O(n^2 \log n) + O(n^2) \sim O(dn^2 + n^2 \log n).$$
 (3)

Precise implementation and pseudocode are given in [3].

Many examples with real and synthetic data are shown in [3]. Synthetic data are produced by distribution generators implemented and presented in [4] and [5].

Finding Tukey median is a computationally challenging. During the last several decades, a few algorithms for halfspace median have been constructed. An exact algorithm (HALFMED) for finding Tukey median in bivariate data set is proposed in [10] with complexity $O(n^2+log^2n)$. First approximate algorithm (DEEPLOC) for finding Tukey median in higher dimensions is proposed in [11] and it runs in $O(kmn \log n + kdn + md^3 + mdn)$, where k is the number of steps taken by the program and *m* is a number of directions, i.e. vectors constructed by the program. Although not implemented yet, there is a randomized algorithm for maximum Tukey depth proposed in [12]. It runs in $O(n^{d-1})$. In our novel approach we show that ABCDepth complexity grows linearly with number of dimensions and quadratically with number of data points. Hence, for any fixed *d* the complexity of ABCDepth algorithm is $O(n^2 \log n)$.

References

- Milan Merkle Jensen's inequality for multivariate medians, J. Math. Anal. Appl., (2010), 258–269
- [2] Milan Merkle Jensen's inequality for medians, Stat. Prob. Letters, (2005), 277–281
- [3] M. Bogicevic and M. Merkle ABCDepth: efficient algorithm for Tukey median, arXiv, (2016)
- [4] M. Bogicevic and M. Merkle Multivariate Medians and Halfspace Depth: Algorithms and Implementation, Proc. 1st International Conference on Electrical, Electronic and Computing Engineering (ICETRAN 2014), Vrnjačka Banja, Serbia, (2014), 27
- [5] M. Bogicevic and M. Merkle Data Centrality Computation: Implementation and Complexity Calculation, Proc.

2nd International Conference on Electrical, Electronic and Computing Engineering (ICETRAN 2015), Srebrno Jezero, Serbia, (2015), 23

- [6] Peter J. Rousseeuw and Mia Hubert, Statistical depth meets computational geometry: a short survey, Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, (2016), 19–30.
- [7] C. G. Small, A survey of multidimensional medians, arXiv, 1990., 263–277
- [8] Y. Zuo and R. Serfling General notions of statistical depth function, Ann. Stat., (2000), 461–482
- John Tukey Mathematics and Picturing Data, Proc. International Congress of Mathematicians, Vancouver 1974, (1975), 523–531
- [10] P. J. Rousseeuw and I. Ruts *Constructing the Bivariate Tukey Median*, Constructing the Bivariate Tukey Median, (1998), 827–839
- [11] A. Struyf and P. J. Rousseeuw High-dimensional computation of the deepest location, Comp. Statist. & Data Anal., (2000), 415–426
- [12] T. M. Chan An Optimal Randomized Algorithm for Maximum Tukey Depth, Proceedings of the Fifteenth Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms., (2004), 430–436

Improving Text Classification Accuracy Using a Novel Corpora Cleansing Technique

Marko Stevanović¹, Branimir Todorović²

¹NIRI 4NL d.o.o., Đerdapska 67a, Niš, Serbia ²Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, Višegradska 33, Niš, Serbia

E-mail: 1markost@niri-ic.com, 2branimirtodorovic@pmf.ni.ac.rs

Keywords

classification; text categorization; noise detection; corpora cleansing; corpora relabeling

Summary

Text categorization is one of the most common machine-learning problem nowadays. In the past two decades many techniques have been developed to address this problem. The effectiveness of these techniques strongly relies on the train corpora quality. In many real-life situations train corpus is often polluted with significant number of misclassified examples, which may lead to a less accurate classifier. In this paper we propose a novel approach that deals with this problem.

There are several approaches that handle learning on noisy labels. Starting from the work in [1], many noisetolerant versions of the perceptron algorithm have been developed. This versions includes confidence weighted learning [2], the AROW [3] and the NHERD algorithm [4]. Most recent algorithm, described in [5], is based on loss function modification, whose usage in optimization process produces noise tolerant SVM and logistic regression classifiers.

Our approach differs from the above mentioned approaches in sense that it does not modifies existing training algorithms. The proposed corpora cleansing algorithm has two parts. First part, called noise detection, is focused on detecting wrongly classified examples in the train corpus. To detect wrongly classified instances we trained an over-regularized classifier on noisy corpus, and then used it to classify all train instances. All train errors in that case are considered as noise which needs to be relabeled. We used L1-regularized logistic regression training algorithm from LIBLINEAR library [6]. Second part of the algorithm is called noise relabeling and has a task to assign a possibly correct class to wrongly classified examples detected in the first step. In order to relabel train example we find its k-nearest-neighbors examples and assign it the most frequent class among that neighbors. In kNN analysis distance is measured as cosine similarity.

Testing setup includes two standard corpora: Reuters and 20 Newsgroups. Adequate corpora preprocessing steps are taken such as stop words removal, lowercasing and bigrams generation. For vector representation of documents tf-idf weighting scheme is used. For each corpus we introduced synthetically generated noise. Namely, from each class we deliberately reclassified p-percent of examples into wrong categories. Value p goes from 10 to 50% with step of 5%, giving us 9 noisy variants of each corpora (see column N[%] in Table 1). 5-fold cross-validation is conducted both on noised and cleansed versions of corpora and corresponding F1-measures are compared. In each cross-validation fold test part is noise-free, while train part is noised as mentioned before. Table 1 shows experimental results. Column N_c[%] shows noise percentage after the cleansing, and F_n and F_c show F1measure obtained by classifiers which are trained on noised and cleansed versions of corpora, respectively.

| NI[0/] | Reuters | | 20 Newsgroups | | | |
|---------|---------|------|---------------|-------|------|------|
| IN[%] | N₀[%] | Fn | Fc | N₀[%] | Fn | Fc |
| 10 | 4 | 0.89 | 0.91 | 5 | 0.84 | 0.86 |
| 15 | 5 | 0.87 | 0.91 | 7 | 0.82 | 0.86 |
| 20 | 6 | 0.85 | 0.90 | 9 | 0.79 | 0.86 |
| 25 | 7 | 0.83 | 0.90 | 10 | 0.76 | 0.85 |
| 30 | 9 | 0.80 | 0.90 | 12 | 0.74 | 0.84 |
| 35 | 12 | 0.77 | 0.89 | 15 | 0.70 | 0.83 |
| 40 | 15 | 0.72 | 0.87 | 18 | 0.67 | 0.82 |
| 45 | 19 | 0.66 | 0.84 | 21 | 0.62 | 0.80 |
| 50 | 23 | 0.60 | 0.81 | 26 | 0.58 | 0.78 |

Table 1. Corpora cleansing results

- Bylander, T., Learning linear threshold functions in the presence of classification noise, In Proc. of the 7th COLT, (1994), 340-347
- [2] Dredze, M., Crammer, K., Pereira, F., Confidenceweighted linear classification, In Proc. of the 25th ICML, (2008), 264-271
- [3] Crammer, K., Kulesza, A., Dredze, M., Adaptive regularization of weight vectors, In Adv. in NIPS 22, (2009), 414-422
- [4] Crammer, K., Lee, D., Learning via Gaussian herding, In Adv. in NIPS 23, (2010), 451-459
- [5] Natarajan, N., Tewari, A., Dhillon, I., Ravikumar, P., Learning with Noisy Labels, NIPS, (2013), 1196-1204
- [6] Rong-En, F., Kai-Wei, C., Cho-Jui, H., Xiang-Rui, W., Chih-Jen, L., *LIBLINEAR: A Library for Large Linear Classification*, Journal of Machine Learning Research, Vol. 9, (2008), 1871-1874

Semantic similarity detection in continuous vector space of words and phrases

Branimir Todorovic, Jelena Milovanovic

¹*Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Nis, Serbia* ²*Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Nis, Serbia*

E-mail: 1branimir.todorovic@pmf.edu.rs, 2jelena.milovanovic@pmf.edu.rs

Keywords

word embedding; semantic similarity; natural language processing; clustering; knowledge extraction

Summary

Similar words detection can help users extract new entities and refresh data bases with up to date information appeared in varius types of documents. In this paper we propose a method for semantic similarity detection based on distributional vector space embedding of words and phrases. Embedding assumes that words and phrases are represented as dense real-valued vectors. It is designed to satisfy the distributional hypothesis: words and phrases that occur in similar contexts tend to have similar meanings, and therefore they should have vectors which are close to each other in a vector space.

We have extracted phrases using Pointwise Mutual Information and then learned word and phrase vectors, using as a training corpora set of business articles, job vacancies and employee resumes. We have produced the embeddings of words and phrases in a vector space, where distance measures difference between them. In a next step of information extraction procedure, we have applied hierarchical agglomerative clustering of vectors in order to detect clusters of similar entities. Using known entities from business domain as seeds, we were able to extract clusters which contain them. Inside such clusters of entities (words and phrases), we have found examples, which were semantically similar to the given seeds, but were not given as a component of the original query. In this way we were able to extract new entities. Example: using a "c++" and "java" as seeds we have got "perl", "cobol", "assembler", "pascal", "visual basic" as extracted entities.

References

[1] Tomas Mikolov, Kai Chen, Greg Corrado, Jeffrey Dean, Efficient Estimation of Word Representations in Vector Space, Redmond, Microsoft Research, 2013.

- [2] Tomas Mikolov, Ilya Sutskever, Kai Chen, Jeffrey Dean, Greg Corrado, Distributed Representations of Words and Phrases and their Compositionality, Redmond, Microsoft Research, 2013.
- [3] Olga Tanaseichuk, Alireza Hadj Khodabakshi, Dimitri Petrov, Jianwei Che, Tao Jiang, Bin Zhou, Andrey Santrosyan, Yingyao Zhou, An Efficient Hierarchical Clustering Algorithm for Large Datasets, Genomics Institute of the Novartis Research Foundation, 10675 John Jay Hopkins Drive, San Diego, CA 92121, USA, Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University of California, Riverside, CA 92521, USA, 2015
- [4] Elkan C, Using the triangle inequality to accelerate k Means, Proceedings of the Twentieth International Conference on Machine Learning 2003 (ICML- 2003).

Structured classification with the averaged sum loss

Dejan Mančev* and Branimir Todorović*

Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University of Niš, Višegradska 33, Niš, Serbia E-mails: dejan.mancev@pmf.edu.rs; branimirtodorovic@yahoo.com

Keywords

structured classification; loss function; primal subgradient method; sequence labeling;

Summary

In this talk we discuss structured classifiers defined with the average sum loss and their influence to the results of sequence labelling problems. Instead of a standard hinge loss [1], which deals with a single structure from each example (the one with the highest score), the average sum loss [2] is defined over the set of structures inside each example.

Let us consider the problem of minimizing the regularized empirical risk over the set $\mathscr{D} = ((x^n, y^n))_{n=1}^N$

$$\min_{\mathbf{w}} \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| \mathbf{w} \right\|^2 + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \ell_n(\mathbf{w}), \tag{1}$$

where $\ell_n(\mathbf{w})$ represents a loss function on the *n*th example with parameters \mathbf{w} , and $y^n \in \mathscr{Y}(x^n)$ are the structures associated with the training example x^n . We consider the hinge loss for structure y defined as

$$\ell(\mathbf{w}; (\boldsymbol{x}^n, \boldsymbol{y})) = \max\left(0, L(\boldsymbol{y}^n, \boldsymbol{y}) - \mathbf{w}^{\mathsf{T}} \Delta \mathbf{F}_n(\boldsymbol{y})\right)$$

where $L(y^n, y)$ represents the cost of assigning structure y to example x^n instead of y^n , and $\Delta F_n(y) = F(x^n, y^n) - F(x^n, y)$, where F(x, y) represents a global feature vector measuring the compatibility of xand y. The average sum loss is defined as

$$\ell_n(\mathbf{w}) = \frac{1}{|\mathscr{Y}_{-n}|} \sum_{\boldsymbol{y} \in \mathscr{Y}_{-n}} \ell(\mathbf{w}; (\boldsymbol{x}^n, \boldsymbol{y})),$$

and it represents the expected hinge loss for structures inside the *n*th example, where $\mathscr{Y}_{-n} = \mathscr{Y}(x^n) \setminus y^n$. With the efficient optimization in primal space [3, 2], the problem (1) can be optimized iteratively by traversing through examples and by choosing in each iteration a set of structures which will be included in the optimization inside each example.

The average sum loss allows us to include more information from each example and obtain better recognition results when we don't have enough training data. This approach is also useful when the existing model should be corrected online as a new example is presented.

- I. Tsochantaridis, T. Joachims, T. Hofmann, and Y. Altun, "Large margin methods for structured and interdependent output variables," *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, vol. 6, pp. 1453–1484, Dec. 2005.
- [2] D. Mančev and B. Todorović, "A primal sub-gradient method for structured classification with the averaged sum loss," *International Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computer Science (AMCS)*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 917– 930, 2014.
- [3] S. Shalev-Shwartz, Y. Singer, N. Srebro, and A. Cotter, "Pegasos: Primal estimated sub-gradient solver for svm," *Mathematical Programming*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 3–30, 2011.

^{*}The authors were supported by Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia, Grant No. 174013.

Nystrom views via the randomized SVD for semi supervised learning

Aleksandar Trokicić¹, Branimir Todorović²

¹ ²Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University of Nis, Višegradska 33, Republic of Serbia * E-mail: ¹aleksandar.trokicic@pmf.edu.rs, ²branimirtodorovic@yahoo.com

Keywords

Nystrom method; randomized SVD; multi-view regression; matrix approximation; kernel method

Summary

In this paper we investigated the semi-supervised kernel regression problem and proposed an algorithm based on an application of multi-view regression to the Nystrom views via the randomized SVD.

We assume that the input set contains *n* feature vectors and that only a small fraction of them are labeled. Authors in [2] proposed a learning algorithm that is composed of two main steps. In the first step from each feature vector two random feature vectors, called random views, are constructed based on a Nystrom method resulting in a two view data set. Two view data set means that for each item in a data set we have two vectors representing it. Complexity of view construction is $O(np^2 + p^3)$ where *p* is the number of randomly chosen feature vectors needed for Nystrom method and number *p* is arbitrarily chosen.

In the second step multi view regression via canonical correlation analysis is applied on the two view data set. CCA aims to find vectors such that projection of observed data onto those vectors results in the largest correlation between two sets. Finally linear regression penalized with a canonical norm is applied.

Nystrom method requires complete eigenvalue decomposition of a $p \times p$ submatrix with time complexity of $O(p^3)$. On one hand, larger p results in better approximation and on the other hand larger p results in slower algorithm. Therefore authors in [3] proposed the use of randomized SVD method for approximate decomposition of $p \times p$ submatrix.

We propose to change step 1 of algorithm from [2] using Nystrom method via the randomized SVD for construction of two random views. In short our algorithm goes as follows:

1. Select p randomly chosen feature vectors. Con-

struct a new view from each vector based on a Nystrom method, where eigenvalue decomposition of a $p \times p$ submatrix is performed using a randomized SVD algorithm. Perform this part twice.

- 2. We perform a CCA on this two view data set.
- 3. Finally we apply linear regression penalized by a canonical norm.

We evaluated the performance of our algorithm (*RNV*) compared to the algorithm (labeled *XNV*) from [2] on real world data sets. Because of the limited space here we show results only on *sarcos* data sets. Our algorithm gave better results on this data set than *XNV* algorithm. For error we chose the mean squared error (MSE) normalized by the variance of the test output. We set the dimension of random feature vectors to be 10.



- Kumar, S., Mohri, M. and Talwalkar, A. Sampling method for the Nystrom method, J. Mach. Learn. Res., (2012), 981–1006.
- [2] McWilliams, B., Balduzzi, D. and Buhmann, J. M. Correlated random features for fast semi-supervised learning, In Proc. NIPS, (2013), 440–448.
- [3] Mu, L., Wei, B., Kwok, J.T. and Lu, B.L. Large-Scale Nystrm Kernel Matrix Approximation Using Randomized SVD, IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, (2015), 152 – 164.

^{*}This research was supported by Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia, Grant No. 174013

Kalman filter training of Echo State Networks

Branimir Todorović

Faculty of Science and Mathematics, University of Niš

E-mail: branimirtodorović@pmf.ni.ac.rs

Keywords

Reservoir computing, Kalman filter, Echo state

Summary

Artificial Recurrent Neural Networks (RNN) are computational model of dynamic systems, in which connections between processing units can form cycles. These cycles endow RNN to develop a selfsustained temporal activation dynamics, even in the absence of the input signal.

Reservoir Computing (RC) networks represents relatively new approach to RNN design and training. The most common approach to Reservoir Computing are Echo State Networks (ESN), proposed by Herbert Jaeger [1, 2] and asynchronous Liquid State Machines (LSM) introduced by Wolfgang Maass [3]. ESN has been applied to various engineering often outperforming other RNN problems. architectures in dynamic system modelling tasks, while LSM (composed of biologically realistic spiking neurons) is popular as computational model in neuroscience.

The main characteristic of RC approach is that Recurrent Neural Network contains two distinct parts: a reservoir of processing units (often sparse and randomly connected) with fixed synaptic weights, and readout linear or nonlinear part, which combines the output of reservoir units to produce the output of the network.

Current input signal and previous output of the network are fed into a fixed reservoir. The dynamics of the reservoir maps these signals to a new space. Due to the fixed reservoir, the training is performed only on readout part of the network, which combines the output of the reservoir processing units to the desired output.

We have derived on line training algorithm for ESN with feedback connections from the output of the network to the reservoir (RESN), based on approximate recursive Bayesian estimator, extended Kalman filter. Along with the synaptic weights, algorithm estimates outputs of the reservoirs neurons. In this way algorithm, we named "Teacher Leading", generalizes the technique known as "Teacher Forcing", where instead of previous processing units outputs, true values of signal, if known, are used. On the contrary to the "Teacher Forcing", which cannot be applied to hidden neurons, nor to training on noisy data (when the true value of a signal is not known)

"Teacher Leading" uses the estimates obtained from Extended Kalman filter.

We give here comparison of results on Mackey Glass (MG) chaotic time series prediction, using ESN, without feedback connection from the output, trained by regularized Least Squares and Kalman filter and RESN, network with feedback connections, trained by "Teacher Leading" algorithm based on Extended Kalman Filter.

All networks were trained on 3000 samples, for 30 independent runs on different reservoirs. After the training, each network produced long term iterated prediction, by feeding back its output to the reservoir for next 1000 and 300 samples in the first and second example respectively. Normalized Root Mean Square Error is used to measure the difference between prediction and the original time series.

Teacher Leading algorithm has superior accuracy compared to other two algorithms, however, due its complexity of O(n3), *n* being number of trainable parameters and reservoir units training time is much longer.

Table 1: nRMSE of long term prediction of MG17 ($\tau = 17$)

| Algorithm | Mean | Var | Best | Time[s] |
|----------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| 7 iigoittiilii | | | | Time[5] |
| | (nRMSE) | (nRMSE) | (nRMSE) | |
| ESN + | 5.43e-1 | 9.04e-2 | 4.36e-2 | 2.62e-1 |
| LS | | | | |
| ESN + KF | 3.64e-1 | 3.28e-2 | 3.14e-2 | 10.78 |
| RESN + | 8.26e-2 | 9.1e-3 | 2.06e-3 | 154.15 |
| EKF | | | | |

| Table 2. nRMSE of long term | prediction of MG30 ($\tau = 30$) |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|
|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|

| | U | 1 | | () |
|-----------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Algorithm | Mean | Var | Best | Time[s] |
| | (nRMSE) | (nRMSE) | (nRMSE) | |
| ESN + | 4.55e-1 | 5.98e-2 | 1.4e-1 | 2.76e-1 |
| LS | | | | |
| ESN + KF | 4.16e-1 | 3.06e-2 | 8.27e-2 | 10.47 |
| RESN + | 1.99e-1 | 7.87e-3 | 6.33e-2 | 139.94 |
| EKF | | | | |

- [1] Jaeger, H. Short term memory in echo state networks. Tech. rep., 2001.
- [2] Jaeger, H., and Haas, H. Harnessing nonlinearity: Predicting chaotic systems and saving energy in wireless communication. Science 304, 5667 (2004).
- [3] Maass, W., Natschlaeger, T., and H. Markram H., Realtime computing without stable states: A new framework for neural computation based on perturbations. *Neural Computation*, 14(11), (2002).

Higher-order ZNN models for computing the matrix inverse

Predrag S. Stanimirović¹, Ivan S. Živković², Dimitrios Gerontitis³

¹ University of Niš, Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, Višegradska 33, 18000 Niš, Serbia *

 2 Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Kneza Mihaila 36, 11001 Beograd, Serbia †

 $^{3}Aristoteleion\ Panepistimion,\ Thessalonikis,\ Greece.$

 $\textit{E-mail:}\ ^{1} \texttt{pecko@pmf.ni.ac.rs,}\ ^{2} \texttt{zivkovic.ivan83@gmail.com,}\ ^{3} \texttt{dimitrios_gerontitis@yahoo.gr}$

Keywords

Zhang neural network; matrix inverse; convergence; time-varying complex matrix; iterative methods

Summary

An analogy between the scaled hyperpower family (SHPI family) of iterative methods for computing the matrix inverse and the discretized Zhang Neural Network (ZNN) models is presented. On the basis of the new-found analogy, the ZNN models corresponding to the hyperpower family of the convergence order p are denoted as the ZNN models of the order p. The implementation of the introduced ZNN models of the orders 2 and 3 in the Matlab Simulink is developed. For this purpose, we define a class of ZNN dynamic systems which represent continuous-time analogy of the scaled hyperpower iterative family for computing generalized inverses. The graphical editor, customizable block libraries and solvers available in the Matlab Simulink are used in the implementation of the proposed dynamic systems. Convergence properties as well as numerical behavior of the proposed ZNN models are investigated. Our motivation arises from the discretization of the Zhang Neural Network (ZNN) model which was defined in [7]. It was assumed that the matrix A is a constant $n \times n$ matrix. Classic approach assumes usage of the matrix-valued Zhang function (ZF) of the form

$$E(X(t),t) := AX(t) - I \tag{1}$$

in the ZNN dynamic of the general form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}E(X(t),t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\Gamma \mathcal{H}\left(E(X(t),t)\right),\tag{2}$$

where $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is a positive-definite matrix used to scale the convergence rate and $\mathcal{H}(\cdot) : \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ denotes an appropriate matrix-valued activationfunction mapping. Since *A* is time-invariant, an application of the general pattern (2) on the Zhang errormonitoring function (1) after the choice $\Gamma = \gamma I$, $\gamma > 0$ and $\mathcal{H} = I$ leads to the following implicit ZNN dynamic equation:

$$A\dot{X}(t) = -\gamma \left(AX(t) - I\right).$$
(3)

The discretization of the continuous-time model (3) was performed by the Euler forward-difference rule

$$X(t) \approx (X_{k+1} - X_k)/\tau,$$

where τ denotes the sampling time and $X_k = X(t = k\tau)$, k = 1, 2, ... Then the discrete-time model of (3) is defined by

$$AX_{k+1} = AX_k - \beta \left(AX_k - I \right),$$

where $\beta = \tau \gamma > 0$ is the step size that should appropriately be selected. After the approximation of A^{-1} by X_k , the implicit discrete-time ZNN model can be rewritten as the scaled Newton iteration for computing outer inverses with prescribed range and null space, introduced in [2]:

$$X_{k+1} = X_k - \beta X_k (AX_k - I)$$

= $(1 + \beta)X_k - \beta X_k AX_k.$ (4)

Our continuous-time ZNN model is based on the errormonitoring function defined by

$$E(X(t),t) := I - AX(t) + (I - AX(t))^{2}$$

= 2I - 3AX(t) + (AX(t))^{2}. (5)

In view of (2), the Zhang error-monitoring function (5) leads to the following implicit dynamic equation

$$\dot{E}(X(t),t) = -3A\dot{X}(t) + A\dot{X}(t)AX(t) + AX(t)A\dot{X}(t)$$

= $-\Gamma \mathcal{H} \left(2I - AX(t)\left(3I - AX(t)\right)\right).$
(6)

The expected convergence of X(t) to A^{-1} approves the substitution AX(t) = I in the left hand side of (6), which in the case $\Gamma = \gamma I$ leads to

$$A\dot{X}(t) = \gamma \mathcal{H} \left(2I - AX(t) \left(3I - AX(t)\right)\right)$$

= $-\gamma \mathcal{H} \left(-\left(AX(t)\right)^2 + 3AX(t) - 2I\right),$ (7)

where X(0) is appropriately defined initial point.

^{*}The first author is supported by the Research Project 174013 of the Serbian Ministry of Science.

[†]The second author is supported by the Research Project III 044006 of the Serbian Ministry of Science.

In the linear case $\mathcal{H} = I$ the discretization based on the Euler forward-difference rule of the model (7) is defined by

$$AX_{k+1} = AX_k + \beta \left(2I - AX_k \left(3I - AX_k\right)\right),$$

where $\beta = \tau \gamma > 0$ is the step size. Since *A* is nonsingular, after the replacement of A^{-1} by X_k , the implicit discrete-time ZNN model for the usual matrix inversion can be stated as

$$X_{k+1} = X_k \left(I + \beta \left(2I - 3AX_k + (AX_k)^2 \right) \right),$$
 (8)

i.e. in the form of the scaled hyperpower iterative method of the order 3. This method was proposed by Srivastava and Gupta in [3] for estimating the Moore-Penrose inverse.

Activation functions introduced in [1] will be exploited. It is assumed that two real matrices $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ and $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ are given. Additionally, let $\mathcal{F}(C)$ be an odd and monotonically increasing function elementwise applicable to elements of $C = (c_{kj}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$ according to the rule $\mathcal{F}(C) = (f(c_{kj}))$, where $f(\cdot)$ is an odd and monotonically increasing function. For given matrices $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$, $A \circ B$ denotes the Hadamard product of matrices $A = (a_{kj})$ and $B = (b_{kj})$, i.e., $A \circ B = (a_{kj}b_{kj})$.

The type I activation function is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}_1(A+\iota B) = \mathcal{F}(A) + \iota \mathcal{F}(B).$$
(9)

The type II activation function is defined as

$$\mathcal{H}_2(A+\iota B) = \mathcal{F}(\Gamma) \circ \exp(\iota \Theta), \tag{10}$$

where $\iota = \sqrt{-1}$ denotes the imaginary unit, $\Gamma = |A + \iota B| \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ and $\Theta = \Theta(A + \iota B) \in (-\pi, \pi]^{n \times n}$ denote element-wise modulus and the element-wise arguments, respectively, of $A + \iota B$.

Theorem 1. Let the invertible complex matrix $A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ be given. Then the state matrix $X(t) \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times m}$ of the complex neural network model (7) based on the activation functions \mathcal{H}_1 converges to the matrix inverse A^{-1} , and the solution is stable in the sense of Lyapunov.

Theorem 2. Let the invertible complex matrix $A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ be given. Then the state matrix $X(t) \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times m}$ of the complex neural network model (7) based on the activation function \mathcal{H}_2 converges to the matrix inverse A^{-1} , and the solution is stable in the sense of the Lyapunov.

Also, a hybrid method based on the combination of the ZNNNM and ZNNCM method is defined. The hybrid method starts using the ZNNCM method and then continues on the basis of the ZNNNM method. The starting point x_0 of the ZNNNM method is just the output of the ZNNCM method and the finishing time of the ZNNCM method is just the initial time of the ZNNNM method. Numerical results and comparison of the ZNNCM,

ZNNNM and the ZNNHM models among themselves and with the GNN model are presented.

For now, it is very difficult to determine or estimate the optimal value of the decisive time moment t_0 . These investigations should be interesting topic for further research. In the current research, we recommend only heuristics and verification.

- S. Li, Y. Li, Nonlinearly activated neural network for solving time-varying complex Sylvester equation, IEEE Trans. Cybern. 44 (2013), 1397–1407.
- [2] M.D. Petković, P.S. Stanimirović, Two improvements of the iterative method for computing Moore-Penrose inverse based on Penrose equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 267 (2014), 61–71.
- [3] S. Srivastava, D.K. Gupta, A third order iterative method for A[†], Int. J. Computing Science and Mathematics, 4 (2013), 140–151.
- [4] P.S. Stanimirović, I. Živković, Y. Wei, *Recurrent neu*ral network approach based on the integral representation of the Drazin inverse, Neural Computation, 27(10) (2015), 2107–2131.
- [5] P.S. Stanimirović, I. Živković, Y. Wei, *Recurrent neural network for computing the Drazin inverse*, IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems, **26** (2015), 2830–2843.
- [6] X.-Z. Wang, Y. Wei, P.S. Stanimirović, *Complex neural network models for time-varying Drazin inverse*, Neural Comput. **28** (2016), doi:10.1162/NECO a 00866.
- [7] Y. Zhang, W. Ma, B. Cai, From Zhang neural network to Newton iteration for matrix inversion, IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-I: Regular Papers 56(7) (2009), 1405–1415.
- [8] Y. Zhang, S. Sam Ge, Design and analysis of a general recurrent neural network model for time-varying matrix inversion, IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks 16(6) (2005), 1477–1490.

СІР - Каталогизација у публикацији - Народна библиотека Србије, Београд 519.72(048)(0.034.2)

519.876(048)(0.034.2)

CONFERENCE on Information Theory and Complex Systems (4; 2016; Beograd) Book of Abstracts [Elektronski izvor] / The Fourth Conference on

Information Theory and Complex Systems, TINKOS 2016, Belgrade, Serbia, October 27-28, 2016 ; editors Velimir Ilić and Miomir Stanković ; the conference is organized by the Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts. - Belgrade : Mathematical Institute SASA, 2018 (Belgrade : Mathematical Institute SASA). - 1 elektronski optički disk (CD-ROM) ; 12 cm

Sistemski zahtevi: Nisu navedeni. - Nasl. sa naslovne strane dokumenta. - Tiraž 50.

ISBN 978-86-80593-60-9

1. Mathematical Institute SASA (Beograd)

а) Теорија информација - Апстракти b) Теорија система - Апстракти

COBISS.SR-ID 258944012

Publisher: Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Belgrade, Serbia.

Printed by Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Belgrade, Serbia.

Number Of Copies: 50. ISBN: 978-86-80593-60-9. Publishing Year: 2018.

Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Belgrade, Serbia

ISBN: 978-86-80593-60-9